Accepted Manuscript

Adenosine contribution to normal renal physiology and chronic kidney disease

Carlos Oyarzún, Wallys Garrido, Sebastián Alarcón, Alejandro Yáñez, Luis Sobrevia, Claudia Quezada, Rody San Martín

PII: S0098-2997(16)30086-3

DOI: 10.1016/j.mam.2017.01.004

Reference: JMAM 683

To appear in: Molecular Aspects of Medicine

Received Date: 2 October 2016
Revised Date: 11 January 2017
Accepted Date: 13 January 2017

Please cite this article as: Oyarzún, C., Garrido, W., Alarcón, S., Yáñez, A., Sobrevia, L., Quezada, C., San Martín, R., Adenosine contribution to normal renal physiology and chronic kidney disease, *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* (2017), doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2017.01.004.

This is a PDF file of an unedited manuscript that has been accepted for publication. As a service to our customers we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in its final form. Please note that during the production process errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.



Adenosine Contribution to Normal Renal Physiology and

Chronic Kidney Disease

Carlos Oyarzún¹, Wallys Garrido¹, Sebastián Alarcón¹, Alejandro Yáñez¹, Luis

Sobrevia^{2,3,4}, Claudia Quezada¹, Rody San Martín^{1*}.

¹Institute of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Science Faculty, Universidad Austral de

Chile, Valdivia, Chile.

²Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL), Division of Obstetrics and

Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de

Chile, Santiago 8330024, Chile.

³Department of Physiology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universidad de Sevilla, Seville E-41012,

Spain.

⁴University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research (UQCCR), Faculty of Medicine

and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland, Herston, QLD 4029, Queensland,

Australia.

*Correspondence:

Professor Rody San Martín A.

Molecular Pathology Laboratory

Institute of Biochemistry and Microbiology

Faculty of Science

Universidad Austral de Chile

Campus Isla Teja, Valdivia, Chile. P.O. Box 567

Telephone: +56-63-2221524

Fax: +56-63-2221332

e-mail: rodysanmartin@uach.cl

ACCEPTED MANUSCRIPT

2

Abstract

Adenosine is a nucleoside that is particularly interesting to many scientific and clinical communities as it has important physiological and pathophysiological roles in the kidney. The distribution of adenosine receptors has only recently been elucidated; therefore it is likely that more biological roles of this nucleoside will be unveiled in the near future. Since the discovery of the involvement of adenosine in renal vasoconstriction and regulation of local renin production, further evidence has shown that adenosine signaling is also involved in the tubuloglomerular feedback mechanism, sodium reabsorption and the adaptive response to acute insults, such as ischemia. However, the most interesting finding was the increased adenosine levels in chronic kidney diseases such as diabetic nephropathy and also in non-diabetic animal models of renal fibrosis. When adenosine is chronically increased its signaling via the adenosine receptors may change, switching to a state that induces renal damage and produces phenotypic changes in resident cells. This review discusses the physiological and pathophysiological roles of adenosine and pays special attention to the mechanisms associated with switching homeostatic nucleoside levels to increased adenosine production in kidneys affected by CKD.

Keywords: Chronic Kidney Disease; Adenosine Receptors; Nucleoside Transporters; Renal Fibrosis.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Adenosine metabolism in the kidney
- 3. Physiological functions of adenosine in the kidney
 - 3.1 Involvement of adenosine in renal vascular tone regulation
 - 3.2 Roles of adenosine in ions balance
- 4. Pathogenesis of Chronic kidney disease
- 5. Adenosine and renal pathology
 - 5.1 Dysregulated adenosine levels
 - 5.2 Pathogenic functions of adenosine receptors in CKD
- 6. Concluding remarks
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

1. Introduction

The adenosine nucleoside was identified as a bioactive molecule when Drury and Szent-Györgyi (1929) discovered its influence in several physiological tasks such as cardiovascular function. The role of adenosine in renal physiology was first studied in the 60's when it was discovered that infusion of adenosine to the renal artery increased renal vascular resistance (Hashimoto and Kumakura, 1965; Haddy and Scott, 1968). This evidence promptly lead to the notion that adenosine decreases glomerular filtration, and then its role on sodium excretion rates and influence on renin activity were characterized (Tagawa and Vander, 1970; Osswald, 1975).

Since the competitive nature of methylxanthines, including caffeine and theophylline, on the effects of adenosine in the heart (De Gubareff and Sleator, 1965) and brain (Sattin and Rall, 1970) were recognized, it was convincingly supported the idea that specific receptors for this nucleoside may exists (Cobbin et al., 1974). In the 90's adenosine receptors from human and mammals were cloned. There are four different adenosine receptors, named A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} , and A_3 , belonging to the receptor family with seven transmembrane domains, coupled to diverse types of G proteins, which exhibit different affinities to their adenosine ligand (Fredholm et al. 2001, 2011). Since their identification, multiple studies have searched for the presence of adenosine receptors in renal cells, using diverse experimental approaches, to correlate their localization with a physiological function (see Table I). Knockout animal models of these receptors have recently been generated, some of which have been a valuable tool for evaluating the effects of adenosine in the kidney (Sun et al. 2001; Tak et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2016). Therefore, discovering the biochemical mechanisms that control adenosine extracellular availability and influence its biological

activity has been a daunting task. A series of ectoenzymes that metabolize precursor nucleotides to generate adenosine were also identified. Additionally, nucleoside transporter systems which control adenosine flux through the plasmatic membrane, involved in presenting the ligand to activate signalling via adenosine receptors, were also characterized (Quezada et al. 2013; Shirley et al. 2009).

In this review we will discuss the contribution of adenosine and its receptors to fundamental renal physiological functions. We will also present evidence that supports the role on adenosine in renal fibrosis progression, which is considered a common event during chronic kidney disease (CKD), independent of its origin, and which strongly correlates with progressive loss of renal function.

2. Adenosine metabolism in the kidney

The biological effects of adenosine are mediated by signaling via adenosine receptors in the plasma membrane. Adenosine is the main, if not exclusive, agonist of these receptors; therefore its bioactivity is dependent on its extracellular availability (Fredholm et al. 2011). Inosine could act as a partial agonist of the A₃AR subtype (Jin et al. 1997; Fredholm et al. 2001), but since this nucleoside is a catabolic product of adenosine it reinforces the physiological importance of adenosine generation at the tissular level. Adenosine is generated from intracellular synthetic pathways or in the extracellular compartment by catabolism of precursor nucleotides such as ATP or cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Jackson and Dubey, 2004; Vallon et al. 2009). The intracellular pathway of adenosine synthesis is mediated either by an intracellular 5'-nucleotidase, which dephosphorylates AMP (Schubert et al. 1979; Zimmermann et al. 1998), or hydrolysis of S-adenosyl-homocysteine

(Broch and Ueland, 1980). Intracellularly generated adenosine may be transported into the extracellular space mainly via specific bi-directional transporters by facilitated diffusion (Pastor-Anglada and Pérez-Torras, 2015). Some cells have an increased potential to release adenosine into the extracellular milleu (Fredholm et al. 1994; Parkinson et al. 2005), however, there is no evidence of renal cells having this potential. This is likely due to the fact that extracellular catabolism of precursor nucleotides is the major source of adenosine production at renal compartments during physiological or pathological responses.

Classical examples of adenosine generation from nucleotide precursors have been described along the nephron. ATP may be hydrolyzed enzymatically by ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase (CD39) generating AMP. AMP then converts into adenosine via the enzyme 5'-ectonucleotidase (CD73) (Vallon et al. 2009). In addition, alkaline phosphatase at the proximal tubule may also generate adenosine even though it has a high $K_{\rm m}$ for adenine nucleotides (Oyarzún et al. 2015). Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) is another enzyme that catalyzes AMP hydrolysis, however, its distribution and physiological roles in the kidney are poorly understood (Lam et al. 1989), although it has been attributed a role in renal carcinogenesis (Shibata et al. 2003). The types and distribution of ectonucleotidases along the rat nephron and murine renal substructures was previously described (Kishore et al. 2005; Shirley et al. 2009) and therefore is not included within this review.

In the rat glomerulus, the basal ATP release rate is approximately 0.30 pmol/min/1000 glomeruli (Karczewska et al. 2007). Exogenous ATP was rapidly degraded by the glomeruli suspension, with a $t_{1/2}$ decay of 2 min, indicating that efficient extracellular catabolism occurs at this compartment, an observation that is reinforced by the abundance of nucleotidases in the glomerulus (Kishore et al. 2005; Shirley et al. 2009). Addition of

ARL67156, an ecto-ATPase activity inhibitor, to the glomeruli suspension caused extracellular ATP to gradually increase. Following ATP hydrolysis the AMP concentration was higher than other hydrolysis derived products. Under normal conditions, glomeruli hydrolyze AMP to adenosine, although less efficiently than ATP to ADP and AMP (Karczewska et al. 2007), which allows adenosine signaling in glomerular cells or downstream signaling throughout the nephron.

Another example of adenosine signaling dependent on extracellular ATP hydrolysis is paracrine communication between macula densa cells and afferent arterioles. ATP released from cells in the macula densa is metabolized to adenosine in the extracellular space and mediates the vasocontractile response of afferent arterioles. Despite the fact that P₂ purinergic receptors are widely distributed throughout the kidney (Burnstock et al. 2014), only a minor role in afferent arteriolar vasoconstriction has been perceived (Schnermann, 2011; 2015), indicating that metabolic imbalance towards the degradation of released ATP is relevant to the production of the vasoactive effector adenosine. Indeed, the paracrine pathway and afferent arteriolar vasoconstriction was deficient in mice that do not express 5'-ectonucleotidase (Castrop et al. 2004).

In addition, adenosine may also be generated from extracellular cAMP degradation by an ecto-AMP phosphodiesterase, followed by AMP metabolism to adenosine by 5'-ectonucleotidase (Jackson and Dubey, 2004). This pathway for extracellular adenosine formation was demonstrated in *in vivo* proximal tubules, collecting tubules and in primary cultures of cells derived from these tubules (Jackson et al. 2003, 2006). Intriguingly, renal epithelial cells along the nephron can extracellularly metabolize non-conventional 2',3'-cAMP to 2'-AMP and 3'-AMP and further efficiently metabolize extracellular 2'-AMP and

3'-AMP to adenosine using non classical phosphodiesterases and ecto-5'-nucleotidase (Jackson and Gillespie, 2013). Since 2', 3'-cAMP may be released from cells upon injury, further research is needed to identify if there is a significant difference in 2', 3'-cAMP levels between the physiological and pathophysiological states.

In addition to the rate of extracellular synthesis, research has also focused on the mechanism that regulates external accumulation of adenosine; which is dependent on cell uptake (San Martin et al. 2009). Nucleoside transport in eukaryotic cells is mediated by two families of structurally-unrelated membrane proteins: the Na⁺-independent facilitative equilibrative nucleoside transporters (ENTs) family and the Na⁺-dependent concentrative nucleoside transporters (CNTs) family (Hyde et al. 2001; Gray et al. 2004; Kong et al. 2004; Baldwin et al. 2004). Each family of nucleoside transporters has several members, being CNT2, CNT3, ENT1, ENT2 and ENT3 capable of transporting adenosine (Pastor-Anglada and Casado, 2006). It is supposed that nucleoside transporters are widely distributed throughout all cells types, due to the implications that the uptake of bases and nucleobases has on energetic metabolism and salvage pathways. However, it is currently known that nucleoside transporters are expressed in specific cell type patterns and may have a selective subcellular distribution (Jennings et al. 2001; Govindarajan et al. 2007). In fact, ENT3 (Baldwin et al. 2005) and ENT2 isoforms (Grañé-Boladeras et al. 2016) were involved in nucleoside transport activity in intracellular compartments. A variety of physiological models have shown that pharmacological inhibition of ENT1 or ENT2 at the plasma membrane results in increased extracellular adenosine concentration, favoring a specific biological effect via adenosine receptor activation (Mubagwa and Flameng, 2001; Ackley et al. 2003; Sonoki et al. 2003; Choi et al. 2004; Riksen et al. 2005; Carrier et al.

2006; Farías et al. 2006; Grenz et al. 2012; Cárdenas et al. 2013). Also, there is increasing evidence of the distribution and probable function of nucleoside transporters in the kidney. In renal epithelial cells, hCNT1, hCNT2, and hCNT3 at the apical membrane and hENT1 and hENT2 at the basolateral membrane, apparently work together to mediate nucleoside reabsorption from the lumen to blood, driven by Na⁺ gradients (Elwi et al. 2006). Additional evidence suggests that the distribution of the main equilibrative nucleoside transporter ENT1 may be present in both apical and basolateral membranes of renal epithelia and extratubular locations including the glomeruli, vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells (Roa et al. 2009; Damaraju et al. 2007). Thus, extensive distribution of ENT1 throughout the kidney indicates that this transporter plays a role in facilitating adenosine signaling beyond nucleoside and nucleobase solute homeostasis (Roa et al. 2009; Damaraju et al. 2007; Elwi et al. 2006). An overview of the mechanisms involved in extracellular adenosine generation linked with cellular signaling is shown in figure 1.

3. Physiological functions of adenosine in the kidney

The kidney is a fundamental organ for corporal homeostasis. It is organized into functional units known as nephrons connected to a capillary network nourished by blood, which participates in the process of filtration, reabsorption and excretion of solutes, and blood back into the circulatory system. The basic nephron function is to purify the blood of waste products via filtration at the glomeruli, as well as remove solutes, ions and water from the filtrate at the tubular level to produce urine. Additionally, the kidney has a fundamental role in regulating blood volume and arterial pressure. It is also involved in the glucose metabolism and regulation of pH, ion levels and hormone synthesis. Thus, certain renal cells, such as tubular epithelial cells, are recognized as polyfunctional and therefore,

understanding their physiology is an interesting but hard task for clinical and basic researchers. Over the last years there has been special interest in the generation of factors that can locally affect renal cell function, among those the intrarenal Renin-Angiotensin System (RAS) and production of other vasoactive molecules (Zhuo et al. 2013). Equally, conclusive background information indicates that adenosine, produced as an autacoid, and its interaction with other effector systems, regulates renal function (Vallón et al. 2006). It is involved in the regulation of afferent and efferent artery vascular tone and crosstalk with the renin-angiotensin system (Navar et al. 1996; Peti-Peterdi and Harris, 2010; Weihprecht et al. 1994).

3.1 Involvement of adenosine in renal vascular tone regulation

Renin is an enzyme secreted by kidney juxtaglomerular cells (JG) where it is synthesized as a preproenzyme that later converts into prorenin; the mature but inactive form of the enzyme (Urushihara and Kagami, 2016; Morales, 2010). Once activated this enzyme is key to the renin-angiotensin system since it is in charge of transforming angiotensinogen to angiotensin I (Huang et al. 2016). Therefore the amount of renin is a limiting step during the production of Ang II, the main RAS component that acts as a critical element to the regulation of blood pressure and CKD pathogenesis. Renin release by JG cells is stimulated by cAMP and is inhibited by an increase in intracellular calcium levels (Ortiz-Capisano et al. 2013) and endothelins in a calcium dependent way (Ortiz-Capisano et al. 2014). cAMP is a second messenger used for the transduction of intracellular signals in diverse biological processes, having an important role in stimulating renin gene expression. Factors that increase cAMP levels stimulate renin expression in JG cell cultures (Lopez and Gomez, 2010; Gomez et al. 2009). The inhibitory effect of adenosine on renin release was

confirmed in dogs (Macias-Nunez et al. 1985; Arend et al. 1984), rats (Churchill and Bidani, 1987; Osswald et al. 1978), isolated rat kidney (Murray and Churchill, 1984, 1985), rat glomeruli (Skott and Baumbach, 1985) and in humans (Edlund et al. 1994). Adenosine produced at the macula densa inhibits renin release through activation of the A₁ adenosine receptor in mouse JG cells (Ortiz-Capisano et al. 2013). This has also been shown in vivo; when adenosine was injected into the renal artery in the canine kidney, a decrease in renin production was observed (Deray et al. 1989). Also, A1 receptor knockout mice have a significantly increased renin plasmatic concentration compared to wild type mice (Schweda et al. 2005). Studies in JG mouse cells showed that A₁ receptor activation results in a calcium dependent inhibition of renin release via transient receptor potential canonical channels (TRPC)-mediated calcium entry (Ortiz-Capisano et al. 2013). The role of the adenosine A₂ subtype receptors in renin release is less clear. In the 80's, studies using an A₁ receptor agonist (CHA) indicated that low concentrations were capable of inhibiting renin release, meanwhile elevated concentrations of CHA stimulated renin release (Churchill and Churchill, 1979, 1985), indicating the existence of an interaction between the agonist with other receptors. Later, in vivo studies in dogs showed that selective stimulation of A₂ receptors induced renin release (Miura et al. 1999).

The afferent and efferent arterioles are an important site for autoregulation of perfusion and glomerular filtration rate. In general, various vasoactive substances, such as thromboxane, superoxide and kinins, may modulate renal vasculature tone, reactivity and resistance. Importantly, studies have recognized the convergence of Angiotensin II activity (Ang II) and adenosine in the afferent arteriole to mediate tubuloglomerular feedback (TGF) (Franco et al. 2009; Persson et al. 2013). TGF indicates a negative relationship between NaCl

concentration at the macula densa and glomerular filtration rate or glomerular capillary pressure (Schnermann, 2015). Ang II induces renal microvasculature constriction via the AT₁ receptor (Harrison-Bernard et al. 2006). Meanwhile, adenosine produces different responses depending on the type of receptor with which it interacts; A₁ receptor regulates contraction (nM range) and A₂ receptor regulates dilation (nM range) (Lai et al. 2006a). At physiological concentrations Ang II increases the adenosine contractile response (Lai et al. 2006a). Correspondingly, low concentrations of adenosine significantly increase the response of the afferent arteriole to Ang II (Lai et al. 2006a). Many studies have shown that the adenosine A₁ receptor is important for the synergic interaction between adenosine and Ang II, however, other mechanisms can also contribute to this phenomenon (Lai et al. 2006b; Hansen et al. 2003; Gao et al. 2011). It was recently shown that arteriolar contraction induced by Ang II is decreased in A1 receptor knockout mice; however administration of adenosine sensitizes the contractile response both in control and knockout mice (Gao et al. 2015). On the other hand, it was shown that temporary injection of Ang II elevates interstitial and tissue levels of adenosine (Franco et al. 2008). To explain this effect, it is assumed that vasoconstriction induced by Ang II leads to ischemia, producing de novo formation of adenosine. This is also explained by the fact that Ang II induces a significant decrease in adenosine deaminase (ADA) activity, as well as a decrease in mRNA and protein levels of this enzyme, which catabolize adenosine to inosine. In turn, increased adenosine concentration also directs downregulation of the A2A receptor, allowing the adenosine vasoconstrictor effect to be preferentially regulated through A₁ receptor activation (Franco et al. 2008). In humans and animals with CKD, the circulating levels of Ang II are induced (Urushihara and Kagami, 2016). Interestingly, Dai et al. (2011) showed that renal fibrosis progression, in a model of Ang II infusion, was concurrent with increased adenosine levels and could be blocked by using an adenosine A_{2B} receptor antagonist, highlighting the interaction between adenosine signalling and the RAS system.

Nitric oxide (NO) is another vasoactive molecule relevant to renal function. Bioactivity of adenosine receptors produces different effects on NO levels, generating diverse results at the vascular beds. Activation of the A₁ receptor regulates renal vasoconstriction through both decreased NO generation and increased production of vasoconstrictor compounds from the COX (cyclooxygenases) pathway of arachidonic acid metabolism (Barrett and Droppleman, 1993; Walkowska et al. 2007). On the other hand, activation of the $A_{2\mathrm{A}}$ and A_{2B} receptors produces vasodilator effects through stimulation of NO production (El-Gowelli et al. 2013; Carroll et al. 2006). While A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors are expressed in afferent arterioles, studies indicate that the vasodilator actions occur essentially by activation of the A_{2B} receptor (Feng and Navar, 2010). However, Carlström and colleagues showed that stimulation of the A2A receptor attenuated tubuloglomerular feedback responses by stimulating endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), presumably at the afferent arteriole (Carlstrom et al. 2011). It is also known that intravenous administration of adenosine causes vasodilatation mediated by the activation of the A2A receptor/NO axis, since dilatation induced by adenosine was abolished in eNOS knockout mice and in wild type mice treated with 1-NAME, suggesting that eNOS is a source of NO that mediates the vascular effects of A_{2A} activation (Hansen et al. 2005). The potential role of the adenosine A_{2A} receptor in mediating eNOS activation and modulating vascular tone has been shown in rat aorta, carotid artery (Ray and Marshall, 2006; Teng et al. 2008) and human fetal endothelium, which is named the ALANO pathway in the latter system (San Martín and Sobrevia, 2006).

Lastly, studies on the effects of A_3 receptor activation on vascular control at the renal beds are scarce. Evidence indicates that activation of the A_3 receptor dilated the norepinephrine-preconstricted afferent arterioles and blunted the vasoconstrictive effect of adenosine A_1 receptor activation (Lu et al. 2015). The effects of A_3 receptor activation in other vascular niches are contradictory to date (Hinschen et al. 2003; Ansari et al. 2007).

3.2 Roles of adenosine in ions balance

Many studies have characterized the role of adenosine in absorption and excretion of ions in the tubular renal system. The first correlation between adenosine and balance of the Na⁺ and Cl⁻ secretory and absorptive pathways in the kidney come from Siragy and Linden, (1996) who described that increased NaCl intake could modulate adenosine production in the kidney. In experiments performed with rats maintained with a low salt diet (0.15%), adenosine concentration significantly decreased (23.3 ± 3 nM cortex; 55.5 ± 5 nM medulla). Meanwhile when salt intake increased (4%), adenosine renal production also increased (418 \pm 43 nM cortex; 1040 \pm 37 nM medulla), being higher in the medulla than in the renal cortex (Siragy and Linden, 1996) and indicating that NaCl concentration and adenosine production in the kidney is tightly regulated, especially in the medullar zone. As described above, TGF is regulated by adenosine through the A_1 and A_{2A} adenosine receptors. This mechanism directly relates tubular NaCl concentration in the ascending limb of Henle's loop and afferent arteriolar tone (Hansen and Schnermann, 2003; Huang et al. 2006). The best characterized adenosine function in solute reabsorption in the kidney is related to tubular Na⁺ reabsorption. The A₁ adenosine receptor regulates Na⁺ reabsorption in the proximal tubule (responsible for reabsorbing 60-70% of filtrated Na⁺) effecting the activity of multiple transporter systems, including the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger-3 (NHE3), the

Na⁺/PO₄ cotransporter and Na⁺-dependent glucose transporter (SGLT) (Welch, 2015). It was shown that administration of selective A₁ receptor antagonists cause diuresis and natriuresis, reaffirming that this receptor mediates sodium and water reabsorption (Vallon et al. 2009). Also, the use of an antagonist or deletion of the A₁ receptor decreased hypertensive outcomes in different animal models (Welch, 2015). Other studies have demonstrated a relationship between salt intake and adenosine A₁ receptor expression. Increased salt intake in rats decreased adenosine A₁ receptor expression in the collector duct, meanwhile in the proximal tubule, decreased salt intake increased A₁ receptor expression thus increasing Na⁺ reabsorption (Siragy and Linden, 1996; Zou et al. 1999; Kulick et al. 2008). These changes could be part of a feedback mechanism that allows increased Na⁺ reabsorption in the proximal tubule when faced with low salt intake and high excretion under high salt consumption, apparently functioning through modulation of A₁ receptor expression and activity (Rajagopal and Pao, 2010; Zou et al. 1999). Although many researchers have shown a relation between NaCl homeostasis and regulation via activity of the adenosine A₁ receptor in the kidney, evidence is still needed to understand the intracellular mechanisms that regulate this feedback.

One proposed mechanism of NaCl homeostasis through the adenosine A_{2A} receptor involves stimulation of K^+ channels and Cl^- secretion (Wang et al. 2011; Gu et al. 2007). Most potassium is reabsorbed in the proximal tubule by passive transport and solvent drag. 25% is reabsorbed in the loop of Henle by the $Na^+-K^+-2Cl^-$ symporter and the remaining potassium reaches the distal nephron and can be reabsorbed or eliminated in the urine (Stone et al. 2016, Palmer, 2015). Adenosine activates K^+ channels in the basolateral membrane of cells of the ascending limb of the Henle's loop in the rat kidney, dependent

on A_{2A} receptor activation of PKA (Gu et al. 2007). K⁺ channels participate in epithelial transport in cells from the thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle, which is responsible for the absorption of 20-25% of filtered Na⁺ (Gu et al. 2007; Hebert, 1998). The apical K⁺ channels are essential for K⁺ recycling, maintaining Na⁺/Cl⁻/K⁺ cotransporter function (Simon et al. 1996), meanwhile basolateral K⁺ channels participate in generating the membrane potential in the thick ascending limb of the Henle's loop (Hebert et al. 2005). Thus, the A_{2A} adenosine receptor could increase signalling through the cAMP-PKA pathway, activating K⁺ basolateral channels and leading to synchronized entrance of apical Cl⁻ and basolateral exit, which indirectly increase Na⁺/Cl⁻/K⁺ cotransporter activity at the apical membrane, favouring Na⁺ reabsorption (Wang et al. 2011; Gu et al. 2007). The A_{2B} receptor mediates a different signalling pathway to regulate NaCl secretion through the collecting duct when faced with excessive salt intake (Rajagopal and Pao, 2010). Studies in mIMCD-K2 cells (renal inner medullary collecting duct) show that adenosine activates the apical A_{2B} receptor when its concentration reaches the micromolar range, stimulating Cl⁻ secretion through CFTR (cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator), via a cAMP/PKA dependent signalling pathway (Rajagopal and Pao, 2010).

Studies also indicate that adenosine could regulate the transport of other ions in the kidney. Adenosine modulates Mg^{2+} uptake in distal convoluted tubule cells via A_1 and A_2 receptors and a volume sensitive-like chloride conductance in the rabbit distal convoluted tubule cell line (DC1) (Kang et al. 2001; Rubera et al. 2001).

To mediate these physiological tasks fine-tuned regulation of extracellular levels and clearance of adenosine is required. Basal extracellular adenosine levels are estimated to be between 30 to 200 nM (Ballarín et al. 1991). This amount is sufficient to activate some of

the high affinity adenosine receptors under physiological conditions and can result from equilibrative transport of adenosine through ENTs, balancing intracellular production with extracellular nucleoside generation. From this baseline level, adenosine can increase substantially when extracellular formation increases as a result of adenine nucleotide release from cells as described above. In addition, extracellular accumulation of adenosine may occur due to decreased cell uptake through ENTs. Both these mechanisms may have a role in dysregulation of adenosine levels in CKD models. Indeed, *ent1-/-* mice exhibit elevated interstitial and plasmatic adenosine levels affecting renal physiology and renal cell function (Li et al. 2013).

4. Pathogenesis of Chronic kidney disease

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is defined by most clinical and genetic epidemiological studies as a condition with an estimated GFR (eGFR) of < 60 ml·min⁻¹·1.73 m⁻², irrespective of the presence or absence of any additional kidney damage (Levey et al. 2005). Pathological features of CKD are inflammatory infiltration, tubular atrophy, capillary rarefaction, podocyte depletion and fibrosis (Duffield et al. 2013; Campanholle et al. 2013). CKD remains an incurable disease and it is estimated to affect 8-16% of the world's population (Jha et al. 2013). Two of the most prevalent causes of CKD are hypertension and diabetes. CKD severely affects patient's quality of life, their lifetime productivity and is a source of mortality due to cardiovascular events (Go et al. 2004). As diabetic and nondiabetic CKD progresses, the costs associated with patient care considerably increase too, due to the requirement of organ replacement therapies (Jha et al. 2013). Patient management includes prescribing antidiabetics, antidyslipidemics and antihypertensives. Over the last decades, the use of RAS blockers, including angiotensin-

converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin II type I receptor antagonists, affected only modestly CKD progression (Jha et al. 2013). Therefore, searching for new therapies and tools to assist in the early diagnosis of CKD continues to be a challenge.

Among the pathogenic mechanisms involved in CKD in diabetes, the best described mechanism is how hyperglycemia alters renal cell functions. Hyperglycemia activates several protein kinase C isoforms, a step that is required for local production of growth factors such as the transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) and the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Ziyadeh, 2008). Also involved in this pathology are metabolic factors, such as advanced glycosylation end products (AGE) (Forbes et al. 2003), oxygen reactive species (Ha et al. 2008) and aldose reductase/polyol pathways (Dunlop, 2000). Further CKD of diabetic and non-diabetic origin presents common alterations to renal synthesis and the activity of some hemodynamic factors such as RAS (Mezzano et al. 2003), endothelins (ETs) (Sorokin and Kohan, 2003) and a decrease in nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (Nakagawa, 2009). Production of pro-inflammatory mediators, as well as monocytes/macrophages interstitial invasion, may also contribute to renal injury and fibrosis (Fornoni et al. 2008). Recently, the pathogenic role of adenosine signaling in mediating glomerulopathy (Quezada et al. 2013; Cárdenas et al. 2013) and renal fibrosis (Kretschmar et al. 2016; Roberts et al. 2014) has emerged as a new player contributing to CKD as discussed below.

The fibrotic process is crucial in CKD since it generates irreversible organ scaring as a result of extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition in renal structures such as the capillary glomerular wall, arterioles, mesangial and tubule-interstitial space (Duffield, 2014; Liu, 2005), leading to progressive loss of renal function and end stage renal disease (ESRD)

(Duffield, 2013). Briefly, renal fibrosis pathogenesis is commonly represented by an initial and repetitive tissue insult (toxic, metabolic, infectious, ischemic or immunologic) leading resident kidney cells, such as tubular epithelial cells and mesangial cells (Campanholle et al. 2013), to trigger an inflammatory processes, secreting a series of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as, TNF- α , IL1- β , MCP-1, among others (Hirschberg, 2005; Meng et al. 2014). These signaling molecules induce platelet coagulation and infiltration of the immune cells such as neutrophils, dendritic cells, T lymphocytes and monocytes/macrophages in the glomeruli and interstitium (Duffield, 2013). Inflammatory cells produce harmful molecules, such as reactive oxygen species, inflammatory and fibrogenic cytokines: TGF-β, PDGF, CTGF, FGF-2, IL-13 (Bondi, 2010; Chen, 2011, Strutz et al. 2000). These factors stimulate resident cells, where part of these cells undergo apoptosis (Song, 2007) and the other portion directly or indirectly contribute to the accumulation of interstitial myofibroblasts in the interstitium, around the blood vessels or in the glomerulus (Grande et al. 2015; Humphreys et al. 2010; LeBleu et al. 2013; Lin et al. 2008; Wu et al. 2013). Myofibroblasts are defined as cells with contractile properties that expresses α-SMA, type II intermediate filaments desmin and vimentin, and secrete proteins and ECM proteoglycans (fibrillar collagen type I, III, IV, fibronectin, laminin, perlecan and heparin). Although this is a simplified view of the processes that occurs during renal fibrogenesis, several of these steps occur simultaneously and can be much more complex. However, accumulation of myofibroblasts is a key event that persistently generates an increase in ECM deposits (Duffield et al. 2013, Duffield, 2014), which finally leads to disorganization of the kidney parenchyma and irreversible loss of kidney function. In this scenario, phenotypic transformation of resident and infiltrating cells in the kidney gives a clue about the origins of myofibroblasts. Recent evidence (Humphreys et al. 2010; Lovisa et al. 2015) showed that injured tubule epithelial cells acquire a mesenchymal-like phenotype, losing their properties to protect functional kidney parenchyma through cell cycle-dependent proliferation, dedifferentiation and repairing (Lovisa et al. 2015). Additionally, reprogramed epithelial cells acquire a profibrotic secretome that orchestrates transdifferentiation and recruitment of cells that contribute to accumulation of interstitial myofibroblasts (Grande et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2013; Lovisa et al. 2015; Grgic et al. 2012). Several sources of myofibroblasts have been identified by using cell-tracer fate in vivo in animal models of fibrosis. Among the identified contributors are local resident pericytes and fibroblasts (Chen et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2013; Grgic et al., 2012; Smith et al. 2012), cells recruited from the bone marrow and from endothelial to mesenchymal cell transition (EndMT) (LeBleu et al. 2013) and macrophages via their transition to myofibroblasts in a process termed macrophage-myofibroblast transition (MMT) (Nikolic-Paterson et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2016). Another pathological characteristic of CKD is glomerulosclerosis. Many studies have described that mesangial cells may acquire a myofibroblast-like phenotype that generates excessive ECM accumulation and increase TIMP (tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases) levels (Riser et al. 2000; Bollineni and Reddi, 1993; Kagami et al. 1994; Ziyadeh et al. 2000). Recent evidence shows that loss of podocytes is a feature observed in numerous studies involving patients with CKD (Kim and Cheigh, 2001; Asanuma, 2015, Reiser and Sever, 2013). Injury and consequent depletion of podocytes using transgenic mice, provoked glomerulosclerosis with evident mesangial expansion, collapse of glomerular capillaries, and decreased kidney function (Wiggins et al. 2005, Wharram et al. 2005). Finally, other authors indicated that podocyte injury led to a phenotypic change to myofibroblasts, expressing collagen1a1. This indicates that podocytes

and parietal epithelial cells also generate basal membrane thickening and capillary obstruction contributing to kidney fibrosis (Campanholle et al. 2013; Duffield, 2014).

Interestingly, the first evidence that correlates adenosine with kidney fibrosis comes from studies performed by Ratech and col. (1985) in adenosine deaminase (ADA) deficient patients. Examination of renal tissue in cases of ADA deficiency showed mesangial sclerosis. Congenital ADA deficiency generates severe combined immune deficiency (SCID) (Booth and Gaspar, 2009) which is a consequence of impeded nucleotide metabolism containing adenine as nitrogenized base. The nucleotide dATP acts as an inhibitor of overall ribonucleotide reductase activity, affecting the immune system response. Furthermore, adenosine is also increased in this pathology. Recreation of adenosine imbalance in ada-/- KO mice leads to renal accumulation of collagen and proteinuria that can be blocked by using an adenosine receptor antagonist (Dai et al. 2011). The involvement of altered adenosine in fibrotic processes is not restricted to the kidney. ADA deficiency leads to the spontaneous development of pulmonary (Chunn et al. 2006) and skin (Fernandez et al. 2008) fibrosis in mice. In these models, increased collagen deposition was accompanied by increased levels of key fibrosis mediators, including TGFβ, connective tissue growth factor and interleukin-13 (Ackley et al. 2003). In addition, pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis in wild-type mice subjected to bleomycin-induced lung injury also showed upregulated adenosine signaling (Sun et al. 2006). Another study showed induction of liver fibrosis in mice treated with CCl4, ethanol or TAA with extracellular adenosine levels two- to three-fold higher (Peng et al. 2008). Thus, gaining knowledge about the biochemical events that control local extracellular adenosine levels is fundamental to the understanding of homeostatic kidney function and the pathogenic signaling pathways that mediate renal alterations.

5. Adenosine and renal pathology

5.1 Dysregulated adenosine levels

Due to several limitations when quantifying adenosine in biological samples, such as its short half-life due to widely distributed metabolizing enzymes and the necessity of complex equipment such as mass spectrometers or high resolution chromatographers, clinical research that associates dysregulated adenosine levels with diseases is scarce. However, conclusive evidence collected from patients affected by diabetic CKD exists. Xia and col showed that disparate adenosine levels and the catabolic products inosine and uric acid, in the plasma of patients with diabetic nephropathy (DN) is concurrent with disease progression; meanwhile healthy and diabetic patients without renal repercussion have adenosine levels within the basal range (Xia et al. 2009, 2010). Further, using an integrated biomarker system to find a predictor of diabetic nephropathy in humans, it was found that the plasmatic adenosine-derived metabolite inosine could be useful as a prognosis tool (Huang et al. 2013).

Additionally, several animal models have been used to correlate dysregulated adenosine homeostasis with the CKD pathogenesis. Among these, experimental diabetes induced in murines recapitulates glomerular alterations and incipient stages of fibrotic activation of cells, while animals with unilateral ureteral obstruction, hypertension or infused Ang II resemble glomerular and tubulointerstitial alterations leading to fibrosis and loss of renal function.

Studies in animal models of diabetic kidney disease reproduced the observations found in diabetic nephropathy patients. Firstly, experiments in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats indicated that adenosine levels were significantly increased in renal vein plasma (Angielski et al. 1989). Roa et al. (2009) using this same animal model showed that isolated glomeruli from diabetic rats contained significantly higher external adenosine compared to controls $(37.4 \pm 3.1 \text{ v/s } 6.0 \pm 0.6 \text{ nM}, \text{ corrected per } \mu\text{g of total glomeruli protein})$. Further, it was recently demonstrated that renal injury progression in diabetic rats develops with increased adenosine levels, having a strong correlation with the profibrotic marker α-SMA (Kretschmar et al. 2016), meanwhile increased urinary adenosine excretion could be detected during early onset of kidney dysfunction (Oyarzún et al. 2016). These observations highlight the fact that locally generated adenosine contributes to setting the pathological milieu of CKD progression. The biochemical events associated with increased local adenosine generation in diabetic kidney disease models was recently elucidated. ENT1 and ENT2 activity was examined to define the mechanisms associated with changes in adenosine levels at the glomerulus (Roa et al. 2009; Quezada et al. 2013). At this compartment, sodium-independent uptake activity was significantly decreased in diabetic rat glomeruli, in particular ENT1 activity was inhibited to 50%; these being the main engines for increasing extracellular adenosine accumulation that drives diabetic glomerulopathy (Roa et al. 2009). Recent evidence demonstrated inhibition of ENT1 activity in the proximal tubules of rat diabetic kidney (Kretschmar et al. 2016), thus probably also contributing to increased external adenosine. Indeed, in ent1-/- mice or animals with pharmacologically inhibited ENT activity, the levels of interstitial and plasmatic adenosine were elevated (Li et al. 2013), highlighting the critical role of ENTs in adenosine homeostasis. This is of a major relevance because histological examination of ent1-/- mice revealed increased interstitial collagen deposition and α -SMA in the kidney (Guillén-Gómez et al. 2012; Kretschmar et al. 2016). Some studies indicated that insulin and elevated glucose levels can regulate ENT activity in some cell types (Sakowicz et al. 2004; Pawelczyk et al. 2003; Muñoz et al. 2006; Westermeier et al. 2011). There is strong evidence of the inhibitory effect of high glucose concentration on ENT1 and ENT2 activity in human endothelial cells and murine lymphocytes and podocytes (Sakowicz et al. 2004; Pawelczyk et al. 2003; Muñoz et al. 2006; Westermeier et al. 2011; Karczewska et al. 2011). Some studies have identified the effect of insulin on restoring decreased nucleoside uptake activity. Recovery of basal adenosine extracellular levels in glomeruli exposed to high glucose, which have increased nucleoside accumulation, was attained by the addition of insulin via upregulation of ENT2 activity; suggesting that this transporter is a target of insulin in the kidney (Alarcón et al. 2015). This opposing modulation of ENT activity by glucose and insulin may allow maintenance of homeostatic adenosine levels during fluctuating physiological conditions. The impact of insulin on controlling renal cell function is of great interest. In fact, mice with podocyte-targeted deletion of the insulin receptor develop significant albuminuria together with histological features that recapitulate diabetic nephropathy (Welsh, 2010). Importantly, insulin resistance and poor glycemic control is present in both type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients, being a risk factor for the development of diabetic kidney disease (Ekstrand et al. 1998; Groop et al. 1993). Mima et al. (2011) analyzed both a type 1 diabetes model, generated by STZ treatment, and a type 2 diabetes model, using the Zucker fatty strain, and observed a loss of insulin signaling in the kidney, suggesting that renal cells are susceptible to developing insulin resistance. Similar findings were described in podocytes (Tejada et al. 2008). We also recently demonstrated downregulation of the insulin receptor protein in kidney cortex from STZ induced diabetic rats and diabetic patients (Gatica et al. 2013). Thus, lack of insulin responsiveness may permit kidney injury progression even when hormonal replacement therapy is performed. Also, this condition may affect adenosine handling by downregulating nucleoside uptake and leading to chronically increased levels of adenosine.

In regards to adenosine metabolizing enzyme activity in diabetic CKD, information is available only from experimental models. In STZ-diabetic rats slight changes in 5'ectonucleotidase activity were observed in glomeruli (Roa et al. 2009), however a significant increase was also observed in the proximal tubules of diabetic rats (Oyarzún et al. 2015), indicating that compartmentalized extracellular adenosine generation may be differentially regulated. Interestingly, Oyarzún et al. (2015) demonstrated that AMPase activity mediated by 5'-ectonucleotidase, CD73, was increased during early diabetic renal injury. Since CD73 activity can be measured in urine, its use as a clinical tool for evaluating diabetic renal alterations affecting proximal tubules was proposed by the authors (Oyarzún et al. 2015). Studies of tubular damage biomarkers, such as KIM-I, NGAL, L-FABP and Cystatin C are inconsistent, with larger studies in humans showing no additional value to traditional prediction models (Lim, 2014). Thus CD73 would be useful as a marker of CKD progression in the clinic. Other studies on adenosine metabolizing enzymes found that the expression of ecto-adenosine kinase (adenosine → AMP) was significantly lower in diabetic rat kidney (Pawelczyk et al. 2000; Sakowicz and Pawelczyk, 2002).

Using different experimental approaches, it was suggested that increased adenosine and signaling is a common event in the pathogenesis of non-diabetic chronic kidney disease (Dai et al. 2011). Such is the case of renal fibrosis in mice generated by Ang II infusion and unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO) (Dai et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2013). Also, Dai et al.

(2011) observed development of renal fibrosis in *ada-/-* animals. Whereas failed adenosine uptake due to insulin deficiency was observed in the diabetic model, however the mechanism leading to chronically high adenosine levels in these other CKD models is unknown. Genetic and pharmacological studies in mice revealed that CD73-mediated excess renal adenosine activates the A_{2B} receptor and signaling, contributing to Ang II-induced hypertension (Zhang et al. 2013). Also, CD73 and adenosine A_{2B} receptor levels were significantly increased in the kidneys of human CKD patients compared with normal individuals and were further elevated in hypertensive CKD (Zhang et al. 2013). Thus, altered adenosine handling by cells or extracellular generation may contribute to chronic adenosine levels in CKD. In turn, future research should focus on establishing the alterations that occur to cellular functions mediated by adenosine and its receptors.

5.2 Pathogenic functions of adenosine receptors in CKD

In addition to the physiological functions attributed to adenosine receptors described in section 3, some of these receptors are linked to both protective and deleterious effects on kidney cells and renal function. Using pharmacological approaches and genetic deletion of receptors, the involvement of adenosine in acute and CKD was identified. As depicted in Table 2, the protective role of A_1 and A_{2A} receptor subtypes signaling was recognized by using the renal ischemia and reperfusion model where neutrophils infiltration and necrosis of proximal tubules was reduced. These findings could be applied to the creating of new therapies for acute renal disease.

The involvement of adenosine receptors in CKD (see Table 2) will be discussed with an emphasis on fibrotic process. Evidence indicates that the adenosine A_{2A} receptor has a protective effect during podocyte injury, which was evaluated using toxicity assays in cells in vitro and by inhibiting monocyte/macrophage adhesion to endothelium in an experimental model of diabetic kidney disease (Persson et al. 2015; Awad et al. 2006, 2008). However, how this protection is overwhelmed in CKD and is poorly understood. Apparently, adenosine signaling properties may be altered by the chronic increase of ligand due to the different pharmacological characteristics of the receptors, thus effecting different cellular responses (Fredholm et al. 2011; Roberts et al. 2014). Also, adenosine receptors may change their number and distribution during CKD. Analysis of the distribution and abundance of adenosine receptors in the human kidney and changes during diabetic CKD are underway. The distribution and abundance of A₁, A_{2B} and A₃ receptors in the healthy kidney and in the kidney of diabetic nephropathy patients is shown in Figure 1. Histochemistry analysis shows changes in the expression of the adenosine receptors with the progression of the disease. There is evident loss of A₁ receptor at the glomerulus, with increased staining at the tubules. One of the most noticeable alterations in the diabetic CKD was A_{2B} receptor expression induced at the glomerular cells and increased abundance at the tubules. Interestingly, A_{2B} receptor expression in non-diabetic CKD exhibited a similar upregulated pattern (Zhang et al. 2013). For the A₃ receptor the most remarkable feature was receptor distribution at the tubules and interstitium during the advanced state of the diabetic kidney disease, which was recently recognized by Kretschmar et al. (2016). Overall, it is expected that these receptor distribution patterns contribute to their correlation with functional consequences at the cellular level. Indeed, the induction of the glomerular A_{2B} receptor can be linked to increased TGF-β release and VEGF overproduction at the glomerulus as previously described in the pathogenesis of diabetic renal injury in rats (Valladares et al. 2008; Roa et al. 2009; Cárdenas et al. 2013). Several groups have reinforced the probable pathogenic role of the adenosine A_{2B} receptor, showing that this receptor subtype directs processes associated with CKD progression such as unbalance of the VEGF-NO axis and endothelin-1 induction in a hypoxia-inducible factor-α-dependent manner (Wilkinson et al. 2016; Patel et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2013). Remarkably, a strong association between A_{2B} receptor and renal fibrosis has been observed. Dai et al. (2011) demonstrated that development of renal fibrosis generated in all three models, ada-/- mice, Ang II infused animals and ureteral unilateral obstructed (UUO) animals, can be avoided when using an A_{2B} receptor antagonist. A_{2B} receptor mediated renal fibrosis was related to interleukin-6 induction (Dai et al. 2011). Additionally, a role for the A_{2B} receptor in renal fibrosis could come from its capacity to mediate profibrotic activation of renal fibroblasts (Wilkinson et al. 2016). Cardenas et al. (2013) observed decreased induction of α-SMA in diabetic rats with pharmacological antagonism of the A_{2B} receptor, probably resulting from attenuated profibrotic activation of resident or infiltrating cells. Complementary pathogenic effects were attributed to adenosine signaling via the adenosine A₃ receptor in renal fibrosis. Signaling via A₃ receptor is involved in the transition of tubular epithelial cells to a mesenchymal-like phenotype that leads to tubulointerstitial parenchyma remodeling and extracellular matrix deposition as described in section 4 (Kretschmar et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2013). Interestingly, these studies suggest crosstalk between the A₃ receptor and TGF-β fibrotic cascade in proximal tubule cells (Kretschmar et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2013). Furthermore, TGF-β induced CD73 in these cells (Oyarzún et al. 2015) reinforcing a positive feedback mechanism for directing kidney fibrosis. In vivo antagonism of the A₃ receptor attenuated fibrosis markers in diabetic rats and fibrosis in UUO animals

(Kretschmar et al. 2016; Lee et al. 2013). Thus common mechanisms of renal fibrosis pathogenesis in diabetic and non-diabetic CKD can be interfered through adenosine receptor antagonism.

Several questions have arisen about the role of adenosine due to alterations in receptor profiles in diabetic and non-diabetic CKD. One of these refers to the mechanisms associated with A_{2B} receptor induction or A₃ receptor distribution in the kidney. Studies have demonstrated induction of A_{2B} receptor mediated by the proinflammatory mediator TNF-α and hypoxia (Kolachala et al. 2010; St Hilaire et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2010; Koeppen et al. 2011). Interestingly these two factors are associated with CKD progression (Carrero et al. 2009; Fu et al. 2016). Ang II may also mediate A_{2B} receptor induction (Dai et al. 2011). Thus a major task will be to solve the way that A_{2B} receptor, with the lowest ligand affinity, may be upregulated concurrently with increased adenosine. Another interesting aspect is the tubulointerstitial distribution of the A₃ receptor in diabetic CKD, resembling the myofibroblast pattern in renal fibrosis. Since the A₃ receptor is also expressed in bone marrow derived cells (Haskó et al. 2008), the expression pattern in diabetic CKD could represent a pool of myofibroblasts from non-resident cells. Thus, contribution of this receptor subtype to myofibroblast generation or maintenance must be solved to be able to understand adenosine signaling integrated into the fibrotic process.

6. Concluding remarks

- One of the most astounding characteristics in experimental models of chronic renal disease of diabetic and non-diabetic origin is the increase in extracellular adenosine and of its catabolic products, which indicates that the pathogenesis of these renal conditions is

from a common axis. In humans, clinical studies confirm this characteristic in patients affected by diabetic nephropathy.

- The biochemical mechanisms associated with increased adenosine levels involve both higher ectonucleotidase activity, which degrades precursor nucleotides, and lower extracellular adenosine uptake through equilibrative nucleoside transporter systems; although the series of events that underlie these alterations are unknown. In diabetes, metabolic and hormonal unbalance may influence lower ENT activity.
- Cell signaling properties are altered due to a chronic increase of adenosine. Even more, changes in the amount and distribution of the adenosine receptors in chronic renal disease of diabetic and non-diabetic origin have been described.
- The A_{2B} and A₃ adenosine receptors emerge as possible targets for pharmacological intervention due to their role in the development of renal fibrosis during chronic renal disease. However, the intervention possibilities are still limited. The development of a clinically useful A_{2B} receptor selective antagonist is underway for the treatment of asthma and pulmonary disease. In fact, CVT-6883 has progressed to phase I clinical studies in humans, however it still requires further research. In the case of A₃ receptor antagonists only preclinical studies has been performed. Some of the antagonists may be selected for clinical phase studies based on their pharmacological and chemical properties (Baraldi et al. 2012). Interestingly, continuous administration of adenosine deaminase (ADA) decreased adenosine levels and precluded CKD in some animal models. Further, ADA replacement therapy is an effective therapy for ADA deficient patients (Booth and Gaspar, 2009; Wen et

ACCEPTED MANUSCRIPT

31

al. 2010), although the cost of this product and its limitations in immune competent patients limits its implementation in the CKD population.

- Further researches to resolve how the chronic adenosine cascade is founded to trigger pathogenic effects leading to CKD are underway. Also, validation of clinical tools that detect induction of the adenosine axis in CKD are needed. Measuring CD73 activity in the urine of at risk patients may be useful for detecting CKD, in addition to current standard procedures. This analysis will provide improved knowledge about the pathological processes that occur in human CKD and will help us observe when interception of adenosine signaling might be useful for opportune intervention.

7. Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT) de Chile grant numbers 1100484, 1160777, 3150548 and 1150377.

8. References

Ackley, M.A., Governo, R.J., Cass, C.E., Young, J.D., Baldwin, S.A., King, A.E., 2003. Control of glutamatergic neurotransmission in the rat spinal dorsal horn by the nucleoside transporter ENT1. J. Physiol. 548, 507-517.

Alarcón, S., Vega, G., Catalan, J., San Martin, R., (2015) D-glucose and insulin regulate the activity of equilibrative nucleoside transporters in renal glomerular cells. Febs journal 282: 320-320, A33

Al-Mashhadi, R.H., Skøtt, O., Vanhoutte, P.M., Hansen, P.B., 2009. Activation of A(2) adenosine receptors dilates cortical efferent arterioles in mouse. Kidney Int. 75, 793-9.

Angielski, S., Jakubowski, Z., Pawelczyk, T., Piec, G., Redlak, M., 1989. Renal handling and metabolism of adenosine in diabetic rats. Contrib. Nephrol. 73, 52-7.

Ansari, H.R., Nadeem, A., Tilley, S.L., Mustafa, S.J., 2007. Involvement of COX-1 in A3 adenosine receptor-mediated contraction through endothelium in mice aorta. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 293, H3448-55.

Arend, L.J., Haramati, A., Thompson, C.I., Spielman, W.S., 1984. Adenosine-induced decrease in renin release: dissociation from hemodynamic effects. Am. J. Physiol. 247, F447-52.

Asanuma, K. 2015. The role of podocyte injury in chronic kidney disease. Nihon Rinsho Meneki Gakkai Kaishi, 38, 26-36.

Awad, A.S., Huang, L., Ye, H., Duong, E,T., Bolton, W.K., Linden, J., Okusa, M.D., 2006. Adenosine A2A receptor activation attenuates inflammation and injury in diabetic nephropathy. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 290, F828-37.

Awad, A.S., Rouse, M., Liu, L., Vergis, A.L., Rosin, D.L., Linden, J., Sedor, J.R., Okusa, M.D., 2008. Activation of adenosine 2A receptors preserves structure and function of podocytes. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 19, 59-68.

Baldwin, S.A., Beal, P.R., Yao, S.Y., King, A.E., Cass, C.E., Young, J.D., 2004. The equilibrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC29. Pflugers Arch. 447, 735-43.

Baldwin, S.A., Yao, S.Y., Hyde, R.J., Ng, A.M., Foppolo, S., Barnes, K., Ritzel, M.W., Cass, C.E., Young, J.D., 2005. Functional characterization of novel human and mouse equilibrative nucleoside transporters (hENT3 and mENT3) located in intracellular membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 15880-7.

Ballarín, M., Fredholm, B.B., Ambrosio, S., Mahy, N., 1991. Extracellular levels of adenosine and its metabolites in the striatum of awake rats: inhibition of uptake and metabolism. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 142, 97–103.

Baraldi, P.G., Preti, D., Borea, P.A., Varani, K., 2012. Medicinal chemistry of A₃ adenosine receptor modulators: pharmacological activities and therapeutic implications. J. Med. Chem. 55, 5676-703.

Barrett, R.J., Droppleman, D.A., 1993. Interactions of adenosine A1 receptor-mediated renal vasoconstriction with endogenous nitric oxide and ANG II. Am. J. Physiol. 265, F651-9.

Bollineni, J.S., Reddi, A.S., 1993. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 enhances glomerular collagen synthesis in diabetic rats. Diabetes, 42, 1673–1677.

Bondi, C.D., 2010. NAD(P)H oxidase mediates TGF-beta1-induced activation of kidney myofibroblasts. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 21, 93–102.

Booth C; Gaspar HB., 2009. Pegademase bovine (PEG-ADA) for the treatment of infants and children with severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID). Biologics: Targets & Therapy. 3, 349–58.

Broch, O.J., Ueland, P.M., 1980. Regional and subcellular distribution of S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase in the adult rat brain. J. Neurochem. 35, 484–488.

Burnstock, G., Evans, L.C., Bailey, M.A., 2014. Purinergic signalling in the kidney in health and disease. Purinergic Signal. 10, 71-101.

Campanholle, G., Ligresti, G., Gharib, S.A., Duffield, J.S., 2013. Cellular mechanisms of tissue fibrosis. 3. Novel mechanisms of kidney fibrosis. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 304, C591-C603.

Cárdenas, A., Toledo, C., Oyarzún, C., Sepúlveda, A., Quezada, C., Guillén-Gómez, E., Díaz-Encarnación, M.M., Pastor-Anglada, M., San Martín, R. 2013. Adenosine A2B receptor-mediated VEGF induction promotes diabetic glomerulopathy. Lab. Invest. 93, 135-144.

Carlstrom, M., Wilcox, C.S., Welch, W.J., 2011. Adenosine A2A receptor activation attenuates tubuloglomerular feedback responses by stimulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 300, F457-64.

Carrero, J.J., Park, S.H., Axelsson, J., Lindholm, B., Stenvinkel, P., 2009. Cytokines, atherogenesis, and hypercatabolism in chronic kidney disease: a dreadful triad. Semin. Dial. J22, 381-6.

Carrier, E.J., Auchampach, J.A., Hillard, C.J., 2006. Inhibition of an equilibrative nucleoside transporter by cannabidiol: a mechanism of cannabinoid immunosuppression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 103, 7895-7900.

Carroll, M.A., Doumad, A.B., Li, J., Cheng, M.K., Falck, J.R., McGiff, J.C., 2006. Adenosine2A receptor vasodilation of rat preglomerular microvessels is mediated by EETs that activate the cAMP/PKA pathway. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 291, F155-61.

Castrop, H., Huang, Y., Hashimoto, S., Mizel, D., Hansen, P., Theilig, F., Bachmann, S., Deng, C., Briggs, J., Schnermann, J.J., 2004. Impairment of tubuloglomerular feedback regulation of GFR in ecto-5'-nucleotidase/CD73-deficient mice. J. Clin, Invest, 114, 634-42.

Chen, Y.T., Chang, F.C., Wu, C.F., Chou, Y.H., Hsu, H.L., Chiang, W.C., Shen, J., Chen, Y.M., Wu, K.D., Tsai, T.J., Duffield, J.S., Lin, S.L., 2011. Platelet-derived growth factor receptor signaling activates pericyte-myofibroblast transition in obstructive and post-ischemic kidney fibrosis. Kidney Int. 80, 1170–1181.

Choi, D.S., Cascini, M.G., Mailliard, W., Young, H., Paredes, P., McMahon, T., Diamond, I., Bonci, A., 2004. Messing RO.et al. The type 1 equilibrative nucleoside transporter regulates ethanol intoxication and preference. Nat. Neurosci. 7, 855-861.

Chunn, J.L., Mohsenin, A., Young, H.W., Lee, C.G., Elias, J.A., Kellems, R.E., Blackburn, M.R., 2006. Partially adenosine deaminase-deficient mice develop pulmonary fibrosis in association with adenosine elevations. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 290, L579-87.

Churchill, P.C., Bidani, A., 1987. Renal effects of selective adenosine receptor agonists in anesthetized rats. Am. J. Physiol. 252, F299-303.

Churchill, P.C., Churchill, M.C., 1979. Inhibition of in vitro renin release by low extracellular K. Life Sci. 25, 687-92.

Churchill, P.C., Churchill, M.C., 1985. A1 and A2 adenosine receptor activation inhibits and stimulates renin secretion of rat renal cortical slices. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 232, 589-94.

Cobbin, LB., Einstein, R., McGuire, MH., 1974. Studies on the coronary dilator actions of some adenosine analogues. Br. J. Pharmacol. 50, 25–33.

Dai, Y., Zhang, W., Wen, J., Zhang, Y., Kellems, R.E., Xia, Y., 2011. A2B adenosine receptor-mediated induction of IL-6 promotes CKD. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 22, 890-901.

Damaraju, V.L., Elwi, A.N., Hunter, C., Carpenter, P., Santos, C., Barron, G.M., Sun, X., Baldwin, S.A., Young, J.D., Mackey, J.R., Sawyer, M.B., Cass, C.E., 2007. Localization of broadly selective equilibrative and concentrative nucleoside transporters, hENT1 and hCNT3, in human kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 293, F200-11.

De Gubareff, T., Sleator, W. Jr., 1965. Effects of caffeine on mammalian atrial muscle, and its interaction with adenosine and calcium. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 148, 202–214.

Deray, G., Branch, R.A., Ohnishi, A., Jackson, E.K., 1989. Adenosine inhibits renin release induced by suprarenal-aortic constriction and prostacyclin. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 339, 590-5.

Drury, A.N., Szent-György, A., 1929. The physiological activity of adenine compounds with especial reference to their action upon the mammalian heart. J. Physiol. 68, 213–237.

Duffield, J.S., 2014. Cellular and molecular mechanisms in kidney fibrosis. J. Clin. Invest. 124, 2299–2306.

Duffield, J.S., Lupher, M., Thannickal, V.J., Wynn, T.A., 2013. Host responses in tissue repair and fibrosis. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 8, 241–276.

Dunlop, M., 2000. Aldose reductase and the role of the polyol pathway in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. Suppl. 77, S3-S12.

Edlund, A., Ohlsen, H, Sollevi, A., 1994. Renal effects of local infusion of adenosine in man. Clin. Sci. 87, 143-9.

Ekstrand, A., Groop, P., Gronhagen-Riska, C., 1998. Insulin resistance precedes microalbuminuria in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 13, 3079–3083.

El-Gowelli, H.M., El-Gowilly, S.M., Elsalakawy, L.K., El-Mas, M.M., 2013. Nitric oxide synthase/K+ channel cascade triggers the adenosine A(2B) receptor-sensitive renal vasodilation in female rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 702, 116-25.

Elwi, A.N., Damaraju, V.L., Baldwin, S.A., Young, J.D., Sawyer, M.B., Cass, C.E., 2006. Renal nucleoside transporters: physiological and clinical implications. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 84, 844-58.

Farías, M., San Martín, R., Puebla, C., Pearson, J.D., Casado, J.F., Pastor-Anglada, M., Casanello, P., Sobrevia, L., 2006. Nitric oxide reduces adenosine transporter ENT1 gene (SLC29A1) promoter activity in human fetal endothelium from gestational diabetes. J. Cell Physiol. 208, 451-460.

Faulhaber-Walter, R., Chen, L., Oppermann, M., Kim, S.M., Huang, Y., Hiramatsu, N., Mizel, D., Kajiyama, H., Zerfas, P., Briggs, J.P., Kopp, J.B., Schnermann, J., 2008. Lack of A1 adenosine receptors augments diabetic hyperfiltration and glomerular injury. J. Am. Soc Nephrol. 19, 722-30.

Feng, M.G., Navar, L.G., 2010. Afferent arteriolar vasodilator effect of adenosine predominantly involves adenosine A2B receptor activation. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 299, F310-5.

Fernández, P., Trzaska, S., Wilder, T., Chiriboga, L., Blackburn, M.R., Cronstein, B.N., Chan, E.S., 2008. Pharmacological blockade of A2A receptors prevents dermal fibrosis in a model of elevated tissue adenosine. Am. J. Pathol. 172, 1675-82.

Forbes, J., Cooper, M., Oldfield, M., 2003. Role of advanced glycation end products in diabetic nephropathy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, S254-S258.

Fornoni, A., Ijaz, A., Tejada, T., Lenz, O., 2008. Role of inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. Curr. Diabetes Rev. 4, 10-7.

Franco, M., Bautista, R., Pérez-Méndez, O., González, L., Pacheco, U., Sánchez-Lozada, L.G., Santamaría, J., Tapia, E., Monreal, R., Martínez, F., 2008. Renal interstitial adenosine is increased in angiotensin II-induced hypertensive rats. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 294, F84-92.

Franco, M., Perez-Mendez, O., Martinez, F., 2009. Interaction of intrarenal adenosine and angiotensin II in kidney vascular resistance. Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 18, 63-7.

Fredholm, B.B., Abbracchio, M.P., Burnstock, G., Daly, J.W., Harden, T.K., Jacobson, K.A., Leff, P., Williams, M., 1994. Nomenclature and classification of purinoceptors. Pharmacol. Rev. 46, 143–156.

Fredholm, B.B., Irenius, E., Kull, B., Schulte, G., 2001. Comparison of the potency of adenosine as an agonist at human adenosine receptors expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biochem Pharmacol 61, 443–448.

Fredholm, B.B., IJzerman, A.P., Jacobson, K.A., Linden, J., Müller, C.E., 2011. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXXI. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors an update. Pharmacol. Rev. 63, 1-34.

Fu, Q., Colgan, S.P., Shelley, C.S., 2016. Hypoxia: The Force that Drives Chronic Kidney Disease. Clin. Med. Res. 14, 15-39.

Gao, X., Patzak, A., Sendeski, M., Scheffer, P.G., Teerlink, T., Sällström, J., Fredholm, B.B., Persson, A.E., Carlström, M., 2011. Adenosine A(1)-receptor deficiency diminishes afferent arteriolar and blood pressure responses during nitric oxide inhibition and angiotensin II treatment. Am. J, Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 301, R1669-81.

Gao, X., Peleli, M., Zollbrecht, C., Patzak, A., Persson, A.E., Carlström, M., 2015. Adenosine A1 receptor-dependent and independent pathways in modulating renal vascular responses to angiotensin II. Acta Physiol. 213, 268-76.

Garcia, G.E., Truong, L.D., Chen, J.F., Johnson, R.J., Feng, L., 2011. Adenosine A(2A) receptor activation prevents progressive kidney fibrosis in a model of immune-associated chronic inflammation. Kidney Int. 80, 378-88.

Gatica, R., Bertinat, R., Silva, P., Carpio, D., Ramírez, M.J., Slebe, J.C., San Martín, R., Nualart, F., Campistol, J.M., Caelles, C., Yáñez, A.J., 2013. Altered expression and localization of insulin receptor in proximal tubule cells from human and rat diabetic kidney. J. Cell Biochem, 114, 639-49.

Go, A.S., Chertow, G.M., Fan, D., McCulloch, C.E., Hsu, C.Y., 2004. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 1296–1305.

Gomez, R.A., Pentz, E.S., Jin, X., Cordaillat, M., Sequeira Lopez, M.L., 2009. CBP and p300 are essential for renin cell identity and morphological integrity of the kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 296, H1255-62.

Govindarajan, R., Bakken, A.H., Hudkins, K.L., Lai, Y., Casado, F.J., Pastor-Anglada, M., Tse, C.M., Hayashi, J., Unadkat, J.D., 2007. In situ hybridization and immunolocalization of concentrative and equilibrative nucleoside transporters in the human intestine, liver, kidneys, and placenta. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 293, R1809-22.

Grande, M.T., Sánchez-Laorden, B., López-Blau, C., De Frutos, C.A., Boutet, A., Arévalo, M., Rowe, R.G., Weiss, S.J., López-Novoa, J.M., Nieto, M.A., 2015. Snail1-induced partial epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition drives renal fibrosis in mice and can be targeted to reverse established disease. Nat. Med. 21, 989–997.

Grañé-Boladeras, N., Spring, C.M., Hanna, W.J., Pastor-Anglada, M., Coe, I.R., 2016. Novel nuclear hENT2 isoforms regulate cell cycle progression via controlling nucleoside transport and nuclear reservoir. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. In press.

Gray, J.H., Owen, R.P., Giacomini, K.M., 2004. The concentrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC28. Pflugers Arch. 447, 728-34.

Grenz, A., Bauerle, J.D., Dalton, J.H., Ridyard, D., Badulak, A., Tak, E., McNamee, E.N., Clambey, E., Moldovan, R., Reyes, G., Klawitter, J., Ambler, K., Magee, K., Christians, U., Brodsky, K.S., Ravid, K., Choi, D.S., Wen, J., Lukashev, D., Blackburn M,R., Osswald, H., Coe, I.R., Nürnberg, B., Haase, V.H., Xia, Y., Sitkovsky, M., Eltzschig, H.K., 2012. Equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 (ENT1) regulates postischemic blood flow during acute kidney injury in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 693-710.

Grgic, I., Campanholle, G., Bijol, V., Wang, C., Sabbisetti, V.S., Ichimura, T., Humphreys, B.D., Bonventre, J.V., 2012. Targeted proximal tubule injury triggers interstitial fibrosis and glomerulosclerosis. Kidney Int. 82, 172–183.

Groop, L., Ekstrand, A., Forsblom, C., Widén, E., Groop, P.H., Teppo, A.M., Eriksson, J., 1993. Insulin resistance, hypertension and microalbuminuria in patients with type 2 (noninsulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 36, 642–647.

Gu, R., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Li, W., Xu, Y., Shan, H., Wang, W.H., Yang, B., 2007. Adenosine stimulates the basolateral 50 pS K channels in the thick ascending limb of the rat kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 293, F299-305.

Guillén-Gómez, E., Pinilla-Macua, I., Pérez-Torras, S., Choi, D.S., Arce, Y., Ballarín, J.A., Pastor-Anglada, M., Díaz-Encarnación, M.M., 2012. New role of the human equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 (hENT1) in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in renal tubular cells. J. Cell Physiol. 227, 1521-8.

Ha, H., Hwang, I., Park, J., Lee, H.B., 2008. Role of reactive oxygen species in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. 82, S42-5.

Haddy, F.J., Scott, JB., 1968. Metabolically linked vasoactive chemicals in local regulation of blood flow. Physiol. Rev. 48, 688-707.

Hansen, P.B., Hashimoto, S., Briggs, J., Schnermann, J., 2003. Attenuated renovascular constrictor responses to angiotensin II in adenosine 1 receptor knockout mice. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 285, R44-9.

Hansen, P.B., Hashimoto, S., Oppermann, M., Huang, Y., Briggs, J.P., Schnermann, J., 2005. Vasoconstrictor and vasodilator effects of adenosine in the mouse kidney due to preferential activation of A1 or A2 adenosine receptors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 315, 1150-7.

Hansen, P.B., Schnermann, J., 2003. Vasoconstrictor and vasodilator effects of adenosine in the kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 285, F590-9.

Harrison-Bernard, L.M., Bivona, B.J., Monjure, C.J., 2006. AT1 and AT2 mediated renal microvascular actions: Lessons from mice with deletion of AT1 receptors. Faseb. Journal. 20, A762-A762.

Hashimoto, K., Kumakura, S., 1965. The pharmacological features of the coronary, renal, mesenteric and femoral arteries. Jap. J. Physiol. 15, 540-551.

Haskó, G., Linden, J., Cronstein, B, Pacher, P. 2008. Adenosine receptors: therapeutic aspects for inflammatory and immune diseases. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 7, 759-770.

Hebert, S.C., 1998. Roles of Na-K-2Cl and Na-Cl cotransporters and ROMK potassium channels in urinary concentrating mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. 275, F325-7.

Hebert, S.C., Desir, G., Giebisch, G., Wang, W., 2005. Molecular diversity and regulation of renal potassium channels. Physiol. Rev. 85, 319-71.

Hinschen, A.K., Rose'Meyer, R.B., Headrick, J.P., 2003. Adenosine receptor subtypes mediating coronary vasodilation in rat hearts. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 41, 73-80.

Hirschberg, R., 2005. Wound healing in the kidney: complex interactions in renal interstitial fibrogenesis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 16, 9–11.

Huang, D.Y., Vallon, V., Zimmermann, H., Koszalka, P., Schrader, J., Osswald, H., 2006. Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (cd73)-dependent and -independent generation of adenosine participates in the mediation of tubuloglomerular feedback in vivo. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 291, F282-8.

Huang, M., Liang, Q., Li, P., Xia, J., Wang, Y., Hu, P., Jiang, Z., He, Y., Pang, L., Han, L., Wang, Y., Luo, G., 2013. Biomarkers for early diagnosis of type 2 diabetic nephropathy: a study based on an integrated biomarker system. Mol. Biosyst. 9, 2134-2141.

Huang, R.S., Cheng, Y.M., Zeng, X.X., Kim, S., Fu, P., 2016. Renoprotective Effect of the Combination of Renin-angiotensin System Inhibitor and Calcium Channel Blocker in Patients with Hypertension and Chronic Kidney Disease. Chin. Med. J. 129, 562-9.

Humphreys B.D., Lin, S.L., Kobayashi, A., Hudson, T.E., Nowlin, B.T., Bonventre, J.V., Valerius, M.T., McMahon, A.P., Duffield, J.S., 2010. Fate tracing reveals the pericyte and not epithelial origin of myofibroblasts in kidney fibrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 176, 85–97.

Hyde, R.J., Cass, C.E., Young, J.D., Baldwin, S.A., 2001. The ENT family of eukaryote nucleoside and nucleobase transporters: recent advances in the investigation of structure/function relationships and the identification of novel isoforms. Mol. Membr. Biol. 18, 53-63.

Jackson, E.K., Dubey, R.K., 2004. The extracellular cyclic AMP-adenosine pathway in renal physiology. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66, 571-99.

Jackson, E.K., Gillespie, D.G., 2013. Extracellular 2',3'-cAMP-adenosine pathway in proximal tubular, thick ascending limb, and collecting duct epithelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 304, F49-55.

Jackson, E.K., Gillespie, D.G., Dubey, R.K., 2011. 2'-AMP and 3'-AMP inhibit proliferation of preglomerular vascular smooth muscle cells and glomerular mesangial cells via A2B receptors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 337, 444-50.

Jackson, E.K., Mi, Z., Zhu, C., Dubey, R.K., 2003. Adenosine biosynthesis in the collecting duct. J. Pharmacol, Exp, Ther, 307, 888-96.

Jackson, E.K., Ren, J., Gillespie, D.G., Dubey, R.K., 2010. Extracellular 2',3'-cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate is a potent inhibitor of preglomerular vascular smooth muscle cell and mesangial cell growth. Hypertension. 56, 151–158.

Jackson, E.K., Zacharia, L.C., Zhang, M., Gillespie, D.G., Zhu, C., Dubey, R.K., 2006. cAMP-adenosine pathway in the proximal tubule. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 317, 1219-29.

Jennings, L.L., Hao, C., Cabrita, M.A., Vickers, M.F., Baldwin, S.A., Young, J.D., Cass, C.E., 2001. Distinct regional distribution of human equilibrative nucleoside transporter

proteins 1 and 2 (hENT1 and hENT2) in the central nervous system. Neuropharmacology. 40, 722-31.

Jha, V., Garcia-Garcia, G., Iseki, K., Li, Z., Naicker, S., Plattner, B., Saran, R., Wang, A.Y., Yang, C.W., 2013. Chronic kidney disease: global dimension and perspectives. Lancet. 382, 260–272.

Jin, X., Shepherd, R.K., Duling, B.R., Linden, J., 1997. Inosine binds to A3 adenosine receptors and stimulates mast cell degranulation. J. Clin. Invest. 100, 2849–2857.

Kagami S., Border, W.A., Miller, D.E., Noble, N.A., 1994. Angiotensin II stimulates extracellular matrix protein synthesis through induction of transforming growth factor-beta expression in rat glomerular mesangial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 93, 2431–2437.

Kang, H.S., Kerstan, D., Dai, L.J., Ritchie, G., Quamme, G.A., 2001. Adenosine modulates $Mg(^{2+})$ uptake in distal convoluted tubule cells via A(1) and A(2) purinoceptors. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 281, F1141-7.

Karczewska, J., Martyniec, L., Dzierzko, G., Stepiński, J., Angielski, S., 2007. The relationship between constitutive ATP release and its extracellular metabolism in isolated rat kidney glomeruli. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58, 321-333.

Karczewska, J., Piwkowska, A., Rogacka, D., Stępiński, J., Angielski, S., Jankowski, M., 2011. Purinergic modulation of glucose uptake into cultured rat podocytes: effect of diabetic milieu. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 404, 723-7.

Kim, H., Cheigh, J.S., 2001. Kidney transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: long-term prognosis for patients and grafts. Korean J. Intern. Med., 16, 98–104.

Kim, J.Y., Kim, M., Ham, A., Brown, K.M., Greene, R.W., D'Agati, V.D., Lee, H.T., 2013. IL-11 is required for A1 adenosine receptor-mediated protection against ischemic AKI. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 24, 1558-70.

Kishore, B.K., Isaac, J., Fausther, M., Tripp, SR., Shi, H., Gill, P.S., Braun, N., Zimmermann, H., Sévigny, J., Robson, SC., 2005. Expression of NTPDase1 and NTPDase2 in murine kidney: relevance to regulation of P2 receptor signaling. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 288, F1032-43.

Koeppen, M., Eckle, T., Eltzschig, H.K., 2011. Interplay of hypoxia and A2B adenosine receptors in tissue protection. Adv. Pharmacol. 61, 145-86.

Kolachala, V.L., Wang, L., Obertone, T.S., Prasad, M., Yan. Y., Dalmasso, G., Gewirtz, A.T., Merlin, D., Sitaraman, S.V., 2010. Adenosine 2B receptor expression is post-transcriptionally regulated by microRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 18184-90.

Kong, W., Engel, K., Wang, J., 2004. Mammalian nucleoside transporters. Curr. Drug Metab. 5, 63-84.

Kretschmar, C., Oyarzún, C., Villablanca, C., Jaramillo, C., Alarcón, S., Perez, G., Díaz-Encarnación, M.M., Pastor-Anglada, M., Garrido, W., Quezada, C., San Martín, R., 2016. Reduced Adenosine Uptake and Its Contribution to Signaling that Mediates Profibrotic Activation in Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells: Implication in Diabetic Nephropathy. PLoS One. 11, e0147430.

Kulick, A., Panico, C., Gill, P., Welch, W.J., 2008. Low salt intake increases adenosine type 1 receptor expression and function in the rat proximal tubule. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 295, F37-41.

Lai, E.Y., Patzak, A., Steege, A., Mrowka, R., Brown, R., Spielmann, N., Persson, P.B., Fredholm, B.B., Persson, A.E., 2006a. Contribution of adenosine receptors in the control of arteriolar tone and adenosine-angiotensin II interaction. Kidney Int. 70, 690-8.

Lai, E.Y., Martinka, P., Fähling, M., Mrowka, R., Steege, A., Gericke, A., Sendeski, M., Persson, P.B., Persson, A.E., Patzak, A., 2006b. Adenosine restores angiotensin II-induced contractions by receptor-independent enhancement of calcium sensitivity in renal arterioles. Circ. Res. 99, 1117-24.

Lam, K.W., Li, C.Y., Yam, L.T., Sun, T., Lee, G., Ziesmer, S., 1989. Improved immunohistochemical detection of prostatic acid phosphatase by a monoclonal antibody. Prostate. 15, 13-21.

LeBleu, V.S., Taduri, G., O'Connell, J., Teng, Y., Cooke, V.G., Woda, C., Sugimoto, H., Kalluri, R., 2013. Origin and function of myofibroblasts in kidney fibrosis. Nat. Med., 19, 1047–1053.

Lee, J., Hwang, I., Lee, J., Lee, H.W., Jeong, L.S., Ha, H., 2013. The selective A3AR antagonist LJ-1888 ameliorates UUO-induced tubulointerstitial fibrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 183, 1488-1497.

Lee, H.T., Gallos, G., Nasr, S.H., Emala, C.W., 2004a. A1 adenosine receptor activation inhibits inflammation, necrosis, and apoptosis after renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 102-11.

Lee, H.T., Ota-Setlik, A., Xu, H., D'Agati, V.D., Jacobson, M.A., Emala, C.W., 2003. A3 adenosine receptor knockout mice are protected against ischemia- and myoglobinuria-induced renal failure. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 284, F267-73.

Lee, H.T., Xu, H., Nasr, S.H., Schnermann, J., Emala, C.W., 2004b. A1 adenosine receptor knockout mice exhibit increased renal injury following ischemia and reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 286, F298-306.

Levey, A.S., Eckardt, K.U., Tsukamoto, Y., Levin, A., Coresh, J., Rossert, J., De, Z.D., Hostetter, T.H., Lameire, N., Eknoyan, G., 2005. Definition and classification of chronic kidney disease: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int. 67, 2089–2100.

Li, L., Mizel, D., Huang, Y., Eisner, C., Hoerl, M., Thiel, M., Schnermann, J., 2013. Tubuloglomerular feedback and renal function in mice with targeted deletion of the type 1 equilibrative nucleoside transporter. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 304, F382-9.

Lim, A., 2014. Diabetic nephropathy - complications and treatment. Int. J. Nephrol. Renovasc. Dis. 7, 361-381.

Lin, S.L., Kisseleva, T., Brenner, D.A., Duffield, J.S., 2008. Pericytes and perivascular fibroblasts are the primary source of collagen-producing cells in obstructive fibrosis of the kidney. Am. J. Pathol., 173, 1617–1627.

Liu, Y., 2005. Renal fibrosis: new insights into the pathogenesis and therapeutics. Kidney Int. 69, 213–217.

Lopez, M.L, Gomez, R.A., 2010. The renin phenotype: roles and regulation in the kidney. Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 19, 366-371.

Lovisa S., LeBleu, V.S., Tampe, B., Sugimoto, H., Vadnagara, K., Carstens, J.L., Wu, C.C., Hagos, Y., Burckhardt, B.C., Pentcheva-Hoang, T., Nischal, H., Allison, J.P., Zeisberg, M., Kalluri, R., 2015. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition induces cell cycle arrest and parenchymal damage in renal fibrosis. Nat. Med. 21, 998–1009.

Lu, Y., Zhang, R., Ge, Y., Carlstrom, M., Wang, S., Fu, Y., Cheng, L., Wei, J., Roman, R.J., Wang, L., Gao, X., Liu, R., 2015. Identification and function of adenosine A3 receptor in afferent arterioles. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 308, F1020-5.

Macias-Nunez, J.F., García-Iglesias, C., Santos, J.C., Sanz, E., López-Novoa, J.M., 1985. Influence of plasma renin content, intrarenal angiotensin II, captopril, and calcium channel blockers on the vasoconstriction and renin release promoted by adenosine in the kidney. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 106, 562-7.

Meng, X.M., Nikolic-Paterson, D.J., Lan, H.Y., 2014. Inflammatory processes in renal fibrosis. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 10, 493-503.

Mezzano, S., Droguett, A., Burgos, M.E., Ardiles, L.G., Flores, C.A., Aros, C.A., Caorsi, I., Vío, C.P., Ruiz-Ortega, M., Egido, J., 2003. Renin-angiotensin system activation and interstitial inflammation in human diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. Suppl. 86, S64-70.

Mima, A., Ohshiro, Y., Kitada, M., Matsumoto, M., Geraldes, P., Li, C., Li, Q., White, G.S., Cahill, C., Rask-Madsen, C., King, G.L., 2011. Glomerular-specific protein kinase C-beta induced insulin receptor substrate-1 dysfunction and insulin resistance in rat models of diabetes and obesity. Kidney Int. 79, 883–896.

Min, H.S., Cha, J.J., Kim, K., Kim, J.E., Ghee, J.Y., Kim, H., Lee, J.E., Han, J.Y., Jeong, L.S., Cha, D.R., Kang, YS. (2016). Renoprotective Effects of a Highly Selective A3 Adenosine Receptor Antagonist in a Mouse Model of Adriamycin-induced Nephropathy. J Korean Med Sci. 31, 1403-12.

Miura, K., Okumura, M., Yamanaka, S., Kim, S., Iwao, H., 1999. Effects of activation of renal adenosine A2 receptor on renal function and renin release in dogs. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 80, 173-6.

Morales, F., E.L., 2010. Conceptos nuevos sobre el sistema renina angiotensina. Hipertensión y riesgo cardiovascular. 5, 211-217.

Mubagwa, K., Flameng, W., 2001. Adenosine, adenosine receptors and myocardial protection: an updated overview. Cardiovasc Res. 52, 25-39.

Muñoz, G., San Martín, R., Farías, M., Cea, L., Vecchiola, A., Casanello, P., Sobrevia, L., 2006. Insulin restores glucose inhibition of adenosine transport by increasing the expression and activity of the equilibrative nucleoside transporter 2 in human umbilical vein endothelium. J. Cell Physiol. 209, 826-35.

Murray, R.D., Churchill, P.C., 1984. Effects of adenosine receptor agonists in the isolated, perfused rat kidney. Am. J. Physiol. 247, H343-8.

Murray, R.D., Churchill, P.C., 1985. Concentration dependency of the renal vascular and renin secretory responses to adenosine receptor agonists. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 232, 189-93.

Najafi, H., Owji, S.M., Kamali-Sarvestani, E., Moosavi, S.M., 2016. A1-Adenosine receptor activation has biphasic roles in development of acute kidney injury at 4 and 24h of reperfusion following ischaemia in rats. Exp. Physiol. 101, 913-31.

Nakagawa, T., 2009. A new mouse model resembling human diabetic nephropathy: uncoupling of VEGF with eNOS as a novel pathogenic mechanism. Clin. Nephrol. 71, 103-9.

Navar, L.G., Inscho, E.W., Majid, S.A., Imig, J.D., Harrison-Bernard, L.M., Mitchell, K.D., 1996. Paracrine regulation of the renal microcirculation. Physiol. Rev. 76, 425-536.

Nikolic-Paterson, D.J., Wang, S., Lan, H.Y., 2011. Macrophages promote renal fibrosis through direct and indirect mechanisms. Kidney Int. Suppl. 4, 34–38.

Okusa, M.D., Linden, J., Huang, L., Rieger, J.M., Macdonald, T.L., Huynh, L.P., 2000. A(2A) adenosine receptor-mediated inhibition of renal injury and neutrophil adhesion. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 279, F809-18.

Okusa, M.D., Linden, J., Macdonald, T., Huang L., 1999. Selective A2A adenosine receptor activation reduces ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat kidney. Am. J. Physiol. 277, F404-12.

Ortiz-Capisano, M.C., 2014. Endothelin inhibits renin release from juxtaglomerular cells via endothelin receptors A and B via a transient receptor potential canonical-mediated pathway. Physiol. Rep. 18, 2-12.

Ortiz-Capisano, M.C., Atchison, D.K., Harding, P., Lasley, R.D., Beierwaltes, W.H., 2013. Adenosine inhibits renin release from juxtaglomerular cells via an A1 receptor-TRPC-mediated pathway. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 305, F1209-19.

Osswald, H., 1975. Renal effects of adenosine and their inhibition by the ophylline in dog. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 288, 79-86.

Osswald, H., Schmitz, H.J., Kemper, R., 1978. Renal action of adenosine: effect on renin secretion in the rat. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 303, 95-9.

Oyarzún, C., Salinas, C., Gómez, D., Jaramillo, K., Pérez, G., Alarcón, S., Podestá, L., Flores, C., Quezada, C., San Martín, R., 2015. Increased levels of adenosine and ecto 5'-nucleotidase (CD73) activity precede renal alterations in experimental diabetic rats. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 468, 354-9.

Palmer, B.F., 2015. Regulation of Potassium Homeostasis. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 10, 1050-60.

Pastor-Anglada, M., Casado, J., 2006. Nucleoside Transport Into Cells. In: G. J. Peters ed. Cancer Drug Discovery and Development: Deoxynucleoside Analogs in Cancer Therapy. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press Inc. 1-28.

Pastor-Anglada, M., Pérez-Torras, S., 2015. Nucleoside transporter proteins as biomarkers of drug responsiveness and drug targets. Front. Pharmacol. 6, 13.

Parkinson, F., Xiong, W., Zamzow, C., 2005. Astrocytes and neurons: different roles in regulating adenosine levels. Neurol. Res. 27, 153–160.

Patel, L., Thaker, A., 2014. The effects of adenosine A2B receptor inhibition on VEGF and nitric oxide axis-mediated renal function in diabetic nephropathy. Ren. Fail. 36, 916-24.

Patel, L., Thaker, A., 2015. The effects of A2B receptor modulators on vascular endothelial growth factor and nitric oxide axis in chronic cyclosporine nephropathy. J. Pharmacol. Pharmacother. 6, 147-53.

Pawelczyk, T., Grden, M., Rzepko, R., Sakowicz, M., Szutowicz, A., 2005. Region-specific alterations of adenosine receptors expression level in kidney of diabetic rat. Am. J. Pathol. 167, 315-25.

Pawelczyk, T., Podgorska, M., Sakowicz, M., 2003. The effect of insulin on expression level of nucleoside transporters in diabetic rats. Mol. Pharmacol. 63, 81-8.

Pawelczyk, T., Sakowicz, M., Szczepanska-Konkel, M., Angielski, S., 2000. Decreased expression of adenosine kinase in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus rats. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 375, 1-6.

Peng, Z., Fernandez, P., Wilder, T., Yee, H., Chiriboga, L., Chan, E.S., Cronstein, B.N., 2008. Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73)-mediated extracellular adenosine production plays a critical role in hepatic fibrosis. FASEB J. 22, 2263-72.

Persson, A.E., Lai, E.Y., Gao, X., Carlström, M., Patzak, A., 2013. Interactions between adenosine, angiotensin II and nitric oxide on the afferent arteriole influence sensitivity of the tubuloglomerular feedback. Front. Physiol. 18, 4-187.

Persson, P., Friederich-Persson, M., Fasching, A., Hansell, P., Inagi, R., Palm, F., 2015. Adenosine A2a receptor stimulation prevents proteinuria in diabetic rats by promoting an anti-inflammatory phenotype without affecting oxidative stress. Acta Physiol. 214, 311.

Peti-Peterdi, J., Harris, R.C., 2010. Macula densa sensing and signaling mechanisms of renin release. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 21, 1093-6.

Quezada, C., Alarcón, S., Jaramillo, C., Muñoz, D., Oyarzún, C., San Martín, R., 2013. Targeting adenosine signaling to treatment of diabetic nephropathy. Curr. Drug Targets. 14, 490-6.

Rajagopal, M., Pao, A.C., 2010. Adenosine activates a2b receptors and enhances chloride secretion in kidney inner medullary collecting duct cells. Hypertension. 55, 1123-8.

Ratech, H., Greco, M. A., Gallo, G., Rimoin, D. L., Kamino, H., Hirschhorn, R., 1985. Pathologic findings in adenosine deaminase-deficient severe combined immunodeficiency. I. Kidney, adrenal, and chondro-osseous tissue alterations. Am. J. Pathol. 120, 157–169.

Ray, C.J., Marshall, J.M., 2006. The cellular mechanisms by which adenosine evokes release of nitric oxide from rat aortic endothelium. J. Physiol. 570, 85-96.

Reiser, J., Sever, S., 2013. Podocyte biology and pathogenesis of kidney disease. Annu. Rev. Med. 64, 357–366.

Rieg, T., Vallon, V., 2009. ATP and adenosine in the local regulation of water transport and homeostasis by the kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 296, R419-27.

Riksen, N.P., Rongen, G.A., Boers, G.H., Blom, H.J., Van den Broek, P.H., Smits, P., 2005. Enhanced cellular adenosine uptake limits adenosine receptor stimulation in patients with hyperhomocysteinemia. Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 109-114.

Riser B.L., Denichilo, M., Cortes, P., Baker, C., Grondin, J.M., Yee, J., Narins, R.G., 2000. Regulation of connective tissue growth factor activity in cultured rat mesangial cells and its expression in experimental diabetic glomerulosclerosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11, 25–38.

Roa, H., Gajardo, C., Troncoso, E., Fuentealba, V., Escudero, C., Yáñez, A., Sobrevia, L., Pastor-Anglada, M., Quezada, C., San Martin, R., 2009. Adenosine mediates transforming growth factor-beta 1 release in kidney glomeruli of diabetic rats. FEBS Lett. 583 3192-8.

Roberts, V., Cowan, P., Alexander, S., Robson, S.C., Dwyer, K.M., 2014. The role of adenosine receptors A2A and A2B signaling in renal fibrosis. Kidney Int. 86, 685-92.36.

Rubera, I., Barrière, H., Tauc, M., Bidet, M., Verheecke-Mauze, C., Poujeol, C., Cuiller, B., Poujeol, P., 2001. Extracellular adenosine modulates a volume-sensitive-like chloride conductance in immortalized rabbit DC1 cells. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 280, F126-45.

Sakowicz, M., Pawelczyk, T., 2002. Insulin restores expression of adenosine kinase in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus rats. Mol. Cell Biochem. 236, 163-71.

Sakowicz, M., Szutowicz, A., Pawelczyk, T., 2004. Insulin and glucose induced changes in expression level of nucleoside transporters and adenosine transport in rat T lymphocytes. Biochem. Pharmacol. 68, 1309-20.

Sällström, J., Carlsson, P.O., Fredholm, B.B., Larsson, E., Persson, A.E., Palm, F., 2007. Diabetes-induced hyperfiltration in adenosine A (1)-receptor deficient mice lacking the tubuloglomerular feedback mechanism. Acta Physiol. (Oxf). 190, 253-9.

San Martín, R., Sobrevia, L., 2006. Gestational diabetes and the adenosine/L-arginine/nitric oxide (ALANO) pathway in human umbilical vein endothelium. Placenta. 27, 1-10.

San Martín, R., Valladares, D., Roa, H., Troncoso, E., Sobrevia, L., 2009. Do adenosine receptors offer new therapeutic options for diabetic nephropathy? Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 7, 450-9.

Sattin, A., Rall, TW., 1970. The effect of adenosine and adenine nucleotides on the cyclic adenosine 3, 5 phosphate content of guinea pig cerebral cortex slices. Mol. Pharmacol. 6, 13–23.

Schnermann, J., 2011. Maintained tubuloglomerular feedback responses during acute inhibition of P2 purinergic receptors in mice. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 300:F339-44.

Schnermann, J., 2015. Concurrent activation of multiple vasoactive signaling pathways in vasoconstriction caused by tubuloglomerular feedback: a quantitative assessment. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 77, 301-22.

Schubert, P., Komp, W., Kreutzberg, G.W., 1979. Correlation of 5'-nucleotidase activity and selective transneuronal transfer of adenosine in the hippocampus. Brain Res. 168, 419–424.

Schweda, F., Segerer, F., Castrop, H., Schnermann, J., Kurtz, A., 2005. Blood pressure-dependent inhibition of Renin secretion requires A1 adenosine receptors. Hypertension. 46, 780-6.

Sequeira, Lopez, M.L., Gomez, R.A., 2010. Novel mechanisms for the control of renin synthesis and release. Curr. Hypertens Rep. 12, 26-32.

Shibata, R., Okita, H., Shimoda, M., Asakura, H., Murai, M., Sakamoto, M., Hata, J., 2003. Primary carcinoid tumor in a polycystic kidney. Pathol. Int. 53, 317-22.

Shirley, D.G., Vekaria, R.M., Sévigny, J., 2009. Ectonucleotidases in the kidney. Purinergic Signal. 5, 501-11.

Simon, D.B., Karet, F.E., Rodriguez-Soriano, J., Hamdan, J.H., DiPietro, A., Trachtman, H., Sanjad, S.A., Lifton, R.P., 1996. Genetic heterogeneity of Bartter's syndrome revealed by mutations in the K+ channel, ROMK. Nat. Genet. 14, 152-6.

Siragy, H.M., Linden, J., 1996. Sodium intake markedly alters renal interstitial fluid adenosine. Hypertension. 27, 404-7.

Skott, O., Baumbach, L., 1985. Effects of adenosine on renin release from isolated rat glomeruli and kidney slices. Pflugers Arch. 404, 232-7.

Smith, S.W., Chand, S., Savage, C.O., 2012. Biology of the renal pericyte. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 27, 2149–2155.

Song, J., 2007. EMT or apoptosis: a decision for TGF-beta. Cell Res. 17, 289–290.

Sonoki, K., Iwase, M., Iino, K., Ichikawa, K., Yoshinari, M., Ohdo, S., Higuchi, S., Iida, M., 2003. Dilazep and fenofibric acid inhibit MCP-1 mRNA expression in glycoxidized LDL-stimulated human endothelial cells. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 475, 139-147.

Sorokin, A., Kohan, D., 2003. Physiology and pathology of endothelin-1 in renal mesangium. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 285, F579.

St Hilaire, C., Koupenova, M., Carroll, S.H., Smith, B.D., Ravid K., 2008. TNF-alpha upregulates the A2B adenosine receptor gene: The role of NAD(P)H oxidase 4. Biochem. Biophys Res. Commun. 375, 292-6.

Stone, M.S., Martyn, L., Weaver, C.M., 2016. Potassium Intake, Bioavailability, Hypertension, and Glucose Control. Nutrients. 8, E444.

Strutz, F., Zeisberg, M., Hemmerlein, B., Sattler, B., Hummel, K., Becker, V., Müller, G.A., 2000. Basic fibroblast growth factor expression is increased in human renal fibrogenesis and may mediate autocrine fibroblast proliferation. Kidney Int. 57, 1521–1538.

Sun, C.X., Zhong, H., Mohsenin, A., Morschl, E., Chunn, J.L., Molina, J.G., Belardinelli, L., Zeng, D., Blackburn, M.R., 2006. Role of A2B adenosine receptor signaling in adenosine dependent pulmonary inflammation and injury. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2173-82.

Sun, D., Samuelson, LC., Yang, T., Huang, Y., Paliege, A., Saunders, T., Briggs, J., Schnermann, J., 2001. Mediation of tubuloglomerular feedback by adenosine: evidence from mice lacking adenosine 1 receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 98, 9983-8.

Tagawa, H., Vander, A., 1970. Effects of Adenosine Compounds on Renal Function and Renin Secretion in Dogs. Circulation Research. 26, 327-338.

Tak, E., Ridyard, D., Kim, J.H., Zimmerman, M., Werner, T., Wang, X.X., Shabeka, U., Seo, S.W., Christians, U., Klawitter, J., Moldovan, R., Garcia, G., Levi, M., Haase, V., Ravid, K., Eltzschig, H.K., Grenz, A., 2014. CD73-dependent generation of adenosine and endothelial Adora2b signaling attenuate diabetic nephropathy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 25, 547-63.

Tang, Y., Zhou, L. 2003. Characterization of adenosine A1 receptors in human proximal tubule epithelial (HK-2) cells. Receptors Channels. 9, 67-75.

Tejada, T., Catanuto, P., Ijaz, A., Santos, J.V., Xia, X., Sanchez, P., Sanabria, N., Lenz, O., Elliot, S.J., Fornoni, A., 2008. Failure to phosphorylate AKT in podocytes from mice with early diabetic nephropathy promotes cell death. Kidney Int. 73, 1385-1393.

Teng, B., Ledent, C., Mustafa, S.J., 2008. Up-regulation of A2B adenosine receptor in A2A adenosine receptor knockout mouse coronary artery. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 44, 905-14.

Urushihara, M., Kagami, S., 2016. Role of the intrarenal renin-angiotensin system in the progression of renal disease. Pediatr Nephrol. In press

Valladares, D., Quezada, C., Montecinos, P., Concha, I.I., Yañez, A.J., Sobrevia, L., San Martín, R., 2008. Adenosine A (2B) receptor mediates an increase on VEGF-A production in rat kidney glomeruli. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 366, 180-5.

Vallon, V., Mühlbauer, B., Osswald, H., 2006. Adenosine and kidney function. Physiol. Rev. 86, 901-40.

Vallon, V., Schroth, J., Satriano, J., Blantz, R.C., Thomson, S.C., Rieg, T., 2009. Adenosine A(1) receptors determine glomerular hyperfiltration and the salt paradox in early streptozotocin diabetes mellitus. Nephron Physiol. 111, p30-8.

Vitzthum, H., Weiss, B., Bachleitner, W., Krämer, B.K., Kurtz, A., 2004. Gene expression of adenosine receptors along the nephron. Kidney Int. 65, 1180-90.

Walkowska, A., Dobrowolski, L., Kompanowska-Jezierska, E., Sadowski, J., 2007. Role of NO and COX pathways in mediation of adenosine A1 receptor-induced renal vasoconstriction. Exp. Biol. Med. 232, 690-4.

Wang, M., Sui, H., Li, W., Wang, J., Liu, Y., Gu, L., Wang, W.H., Gu, R., 2011. Stimulation of A(2a) adenosine receptor abolishes the inhibitory effect of arachidonic acid on the basolateral 50-pS K channel in the thick ascending limb. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 300, F906-13.

Wang, S., Meng, X.M., Ng, Y.Y., Ma, F.Y., Zhou, S., Zhang, Y., Yang, C., Huang, X.R., Xiao, J., Wang, Y.Y., Ka, S.M., Tang, Y.J., Chung, A.C., To, K.F., Nikolic-Paterson, D.J., Lan, H.Y., 2016. TGF-beta/Smad3 signalling regulates the transition of bone marrow-derived macrophages into myofibroblasts during tissue fibrosis. Oncotarget. 7, 8809–8822.

Weihprecht, H., Lorenz, J.N., Briggs, J.P., Schnermann, J., 1994. Synergistic effects of angiotensin and adenosine in the renal microvasculature. Am. J. Physiol. 266, F227-39.

Welch, W.J., 2015. Adenosine, type 1 receptors: role in proximal tubule Na+ reabsorption. Acta Physiol. 213, 242-8.

Welsh, G., Hale, L., Eremina, V., Jeansson, M., Maezawa, Y., Lennon, R., Pons, D.A., Owen, R.J., Satchell, S.C., Miles, M.J., Caunt, C.J., McArdle, C.A., Pavenstädt, H., Tavaré, J.M., Herzenberg, A.M., Kahn, C.R., Mathieson, P.W., Quaggin, S.E., Saleem, M.A., Coward, R.J., 2010. Insulin signaling to the glomerular podocyte is critical for normal kidney function. Cell Metab. 12, 329-40.

Wen, J., Jiang, X., Dai, Y., Zhang, Y., Tang, Y., Sun, H., Mi, T., Kellems, R.E., Blackburn, M.R., Xia, Y., 2010. Adenosine deaminase enzyme therapy prevents and reverses the heightened cavernosal relaxation in priapism. J. Sex Med. 7, 3011-22.

Westermeier, F., Salomón, C., González, M., Puebla, C., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Cifuentes, F., Leiva, A., Casanello, P., Sobrevia, L., 2011. Insulin restores gestational diabetes mellitus-reduced adenosine transport involving differential expression of insulin receptor isoforms in human umbilical vein endothelium. Diabetes. 60, 1677-87.

Wharram, B.L., Goyal, M., Wiggins, J.E., Sanden, S.K., Hussain, S., Filipiak, W.E., Saunders, T.L., Dysko, R.C., Kohno, K., Holzman, L.B., Wiggins, R.C., 2005. Podocyte depletion causes glomerulosclerosis: diphtheria toxin-induced podocyte depletion in rats expressing human diphtheria toxin receptor transgene. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 2941–2952.

Wiggins, J.E., Goyal, M., Sanden, S.K., Wharram, B.L., Shedden, K.A., Misek, D.E., Kuick, R.D., Wiggins, R.C., 2005. Podocyte hypertrophy, "adaptation," and "decompensation" associated with glomerular enlargement and glomerulosclerosis in the aging rat: prevention by calorie restriction. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 2953–2966.

Wilkinson, P.F., Farrell, F.X., Morel, D., Law, W., Murphy, S., 2016. Adenosine Signaling Increases Proinflammatory and Profibrotic Mediators through Activation of a Functional Adenosine 2B Receptor in Renal Fibroblasts. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. 46, 339-45.

Wu, C.F., Chiang, W.C., Lai, C.F., Chang, F.C., Chen, Y.T., Chou, Y.H., Wu, T.H., Linn, G.R., Ling, H., Wu, K.D., Tsai, T.J., Chen, Y.M., Duffield, J.S., Lin, S.L., 2013. Transforming growth factor beta-1 stimulates profibrotic epithelial signaling to activate pericyte-myofibroblast transition in obstructive kidney fibrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 182, 118–131.

Xia, J.F., Hu, P., Liang, Q.L., Zou, T.T., Wang, Y.M., Luo, G.A., 2010. Correlations of creatine and six related pyrimidine metabolites and diabetic nephropathy in Chinese type 2 diabetic patients. Clin. Biochem. 43, 957–962.

Xia, J.F., Liang, Q.L., Liang, X.P., Wang, Y.M., Hu, P., Li, P., Luo, G.A., 2009. Ultraviolet and tandem mass spectrometry for simultaneous quantification of 21 pivotal metabolites in plasma from patients with diabetic nephropathy. J. Chromatogr B. Analyt. Technol. Biomed Life Sci. 877, 1930–1936.

Xiao, H., Shen, H.Y., Liu, W., Xiong, R.P., Li, P., Meng, G., Yang, N., Chen, X., Si, L.Y., Zhou, Y.G., 2013. Adenosine A2A receptor: a target for regulating renal interstitial fibrosis in obstructive nephropathy. PLoS One. 8, e60173.

Yang, M., Ma, C., Liu, S., Shao, Q., Gao, W., Song, B., Sun, J., Xie, Q., Zhang, Y., Feng, A., Liu, Y., Hu, W., Qu, X., 2010. HIF-dependent induction of adenosine receptor A2b skews human dendritic cells to a Th2-stimulating phenotype under hypoxia. Immunol, Cell. Biol. 88, 165-71.

Yang, T., Zollbrecht, C., Winerdal, M.E., Zhuge, Z., Zhang, X.M., Terrando, N., Checa, A., Sällström, J., Wheelock, C.E., Winqvist, O., Harris, R.A., Larsson, E., Persson, A.E., Fredholm, B.B., Carlström, M., 2016. Genetic Abrogation of Adenosine A3 Receptor Prevents Uninephrectomy and High Salt-Induced Hypertension. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 5.

Zhang, W., Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Dai, Y., Ning, C., Luo, R., Sun, K., Glover, L., Grenz, A., Sun, H., Tao, L., Zhang, W., Colgan, S.P., Blackburn, M.R, Eltzschig, H.K., Kellems, R.E., Xia, Y., 2013. Elevated ecto-5'-nucleotidase-mediated increased renal adenosine signaling via A2B adenosine receptor contributes to chronic hypertension. Circ. Res. 112(11), 1466-78.

Zhao, Z., Kapoian, T., Shepard, M., Lianos, E.A., 2002. Adenosine-induced apoptosis in glomerular mesangial cells. Kidney Int. 61, 1276-85.

Zhuo, J.L., Ferrao, F.M., Zheng, Y., Li, X.C., 2013. New frontiers in the intrarenal Renin-Angiotensin system: a critical review of classical and new paradigms. Front. Endocrinol. 11, 4-166.

Zimmermann, H., Braun, N., Kegel, B., Heine, P., 1998. New insights into molecular structure and function of ectonucleotidases in the nervous system. Neurochem, Int. 32, 421–425.

Ziyadeh F.N., Hoffman, B.B., Han, D.C., Iglesias-De La Cruz, M.C., Hong, S.W., Isono, M., Chen, S., McGowan, T.A., Sharma K., 2000. Long-term prevention of renal insufficiency, excess matrix gene expression, and glomerular mesangial matrix expansion by treatment with monoclonal antitransforming growth factor-beta antibody in db/db diabetic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 97, 8015–8020.

Ziyadeh, F., 2008. Different roles for TGF-beta and VEGF in the pathogenesis of the cardinal features of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. 82, S38-41.

Zou, A.P., Wu, F., Li, P.L., Cowley, A.W., Jr., 1999. Effect of chronic salt loading on adenosine metabolism and receptor expression in renal cortex and medulla in rats. Hypertension. 33, 511-6.

Legend of the Figures

Figure 1. Adenosine metabolism and cellular effects in the kidney. A. Homeostatic extracellular adenosine levels are generated from hydrolysis of the precursor nucleotides ATP and cAMP which are released by kidney cells. ATP is metabolized to AMP by the cell surface enzyme ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (ENTPD1 or CD39) and then to adenosine by ecto-5'-nucleotidase (NT5E or CD73). Extracellular cAMP is the substrate of phosphodiesterase (PDE) and consecutively AMP is dephosphorylated by CD73 to generate adenosine. The mechanisms involved in cell-mediated release of precursor nucleotides may include nucleotide permeable channels or extrusion mediated by vesicles, but this remains to be determined in kidney compartments. Intracellularly, adenosine is produced from S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) and converted to AMP by adenosine kinase (AK) or metabolized by the salvage pathway (SP) of purine nucleosides and nucleobases. The Equilibrative Nucleoside Transporters (NT) balances extracellular levels of the nucleoside and adenosine in the cells. In addition NT activity may be decreased to mediate extracellular accumulation of adenosine. B. Finely regulated extracellular levels of adenosine signal through four G-protein-coupled receptors A₁, A_{2A},

 A_{2B} , and A_3 in the healthy kidney to mediate physiological tasks such as tubuloglomerular feedback (TGF), renin release and ions balance. In contrast, chronic kidney disease models show persistently high levels of adenosine thus affecting cellular functions. The most remarkable consequences of unbalanced adenosine signaling in diabetic and non-diabetic CKD are glomerulopathy and renal fibrosis.

Figure Distribution adenosine receptors human diabetic of in Immunohistochemical detection of A₁, A_{2B} and A₃ adenosine receptors (AR) in human kidney sections from non-diabetic normal tissue and biopsies from diabetic nephropathy patients. In the glomerular compartment there is evident induction of the A_{2B} receptor subtype in diabetic CKD. Further, A₃ receptor distribution to the tubulointerstitium was observed in advanced stages of diabetic nephropathy. The A₁ receptor subtype was decreased in glomeruli but increased in tubular epithelial cells as the disease progresses. Selected images show representative progressive stages of renal injury probed by the content of α-smooth muscle actin (α-SMA) and pathological analysis. Original magnification 200x. Scale bars 50µm.

Table 1. Adenosine receptor distribution in the kidney

Adenosine receptor subtype and localization	Specie/Cell culture	Method	References
Adenosine A ₁ receptor			
Podocytes and dista convoluted tubules	l Rat	Immunohistochemistry	Pawelczyk et al., 2005
Isolated kidney glomeruli and podocytes	d Rat/cultured podocytes	RT-PCR	Valladares et al., 2008
Thin limbs of Henle collecting duct system and to lesser extent in the medullary thick ascending limb.	a	RT-PRC	Vitzthum et al., 2004
Microdissected afferen	t Mouse	RT-PCR	Lu et al., 2015
Microdissected efferen	t Mouse	RT-PCR	Al-Mashhadi et al., 2009
Juxtaglomerular cells	Primary cultures Mouse	Immunolabeling/confocal microscopy/RT-PCR	Ortiz-Capisano et., 2013
Mesangial cells	SV40 transformed mouse mesangial cell line	RT-PCR	Zhao et al., 2002
Proximal tubule cells	Human papillomavirus 16 (HPV-16) transformed HK-2 cells	Real time RT-PCR	Tang and Zhou, 2003
Adenosine A _{2A} receptor			
Glomeruli	Mouse/Rat	RT-PCR	Vitzthum et al., 2004

Conditionally immortalized podocyte cell line	Mouse	RT-PCR/ Immunocytochemistry	Awad et al., 2008
Juxtaglomerular cells	Primary cultures of isolated mouse juxtaglomerular cells.	RT-PCR	Ortiz-Capisano et al., 2013
Juxtamedullary afferent arterioles	Rat	In vitro blood-perfused juxtamedullary nephron technique combined with videomicroscopy.(Functio nal assay)	Feng and Navar, 2010
Microdissected efferent arterioles	Mouse	RT-PCR	Al-Mashhadi et al., 2009
Proximal tubule cells	Human papillomavirus 16 (HPV-16) transformed HK-2 cells	Real time RT-PCR	Tang and Zhou, 2003
Adenosine A _{2B} receptor		77	
Cortical thick ascending limb of Henle and in the distal convoluted tubule	Mouse /rat	RT-PCR	Vitzthum et al., 2004
Glomeruli and tubules	Human	Immunohistochemistry	Zhang et al., 2013
Juxtaglomerular cells	Mouse	Primary cultures of isolated mouse juxtaglomerular cells/RT-	Ortiz-Capisano et al., 2013
	Y	PCR	
Juxtamedullary afferent arterioles.	Rat		Feng and Navar, 2010
	Rat Immortalized cell line mIMCD-K2/murine model.	PCR In vitro blood-perfused juxtamedullary nephron technique combined with	Feng and Navar, 2010 Rajagopal and Pao, 2010

Microdissected efferent arterioles.	Mice	RT-PCR	Al-Mashhadi et al., 2009
Mesangial cells	SV40 transformed mouse mesangial cell line from adult male Wistar-Kyoto rats	RT-PCR/Inhibition assay with MRS1754	Zhao et al., 2002 Jackson et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2011
Fibroblast	Rat cell line NRK-49F	RT-PCR	Wilkinson et al., 2016
Initial segment of the inner medullary collecting duct	Murine cell line mIMCD-K2	Western blotting	Rajagopal et al., 2010
Adenosine A ₃ receptor		25	
Microdissected isolated afferent arteriole	Mouse	RT-PCR	Lu et al., 2015
Microdissected efferent arterioles	Mouse	RT-PCR	Al-Mashhadi et al., 2009
Mesangial cells	SV40 transformed mouse mesangial cell line	RT-PCR	Zhao et al., 2002
Glomeruli and tubules	Human	Immunohistochemistry	Kretschmar et al. 2016
Proximal tubules	Human papillomavirus 16 (HPV-16) transformed HK-2 cells and rat purified proximal tubules	Western blot	Kretschmar et al. 2016

Model of kidney injury	Interventional	Effect	Reference
			Keierence
	strategy		
Ischemia and reperfusion	CCPA agonist	Restores renal function, attenuates the expression of inflammation markers ICAM-1, IL-1β and TNF-α, necrosis and apoptosis	Lee et al. 2004a
Ischemia and reperfusion	DPCPX antagonist	Increases renal dysfunction, tubular necrosis, inflammation and apoptosis	Lee et al. 2004a
Ischemia and reperfusion	A ₁ AR-/- mice	Increases the expression of inflammation markers ICAM-1, IL-1β and TNF-α. Augments neutrophils infiltration	Lee et al. 2004b
Ischemia and reperfusion	CCPA agonist	Reduces necrosis in proximal tubules, neutrophils infiltration, inflammation and apoptosis in IL-11 receptor KO mice	Kim et al. 2013
Ischemia and reperfusion	DPCPX antagonist	Enhances lymphocyte infiltration and TNF-α production	<u>Najafi</u> et al. 2016
Alloxan- induced diabetes	A ₁ AR-/- mice	Increases glomerular filtration rate	Sällström et al. 2007
Diabetic nephropathy	A_1AR -/- mice	Increases renal injury and glomerular filtration rate	Faulhaber-Walter et al. 2008
Ischemia and reperfusion	DWH146e antagonist	Inhibits inflammation, reduces renal damage	<u>Okusa</u> et al. 1999
Ischemia and reperfusion	ZM241385 antagonist	Blockades the renoprotector effects of DWH146e	<u>Okusa</u> et al. 1999
Ischemia and reperfusion	DWH 146e agonist	Reduces neutrophil infiltration in renal cortex and medulla. Decreases ICAM-1 expression	<u>Okusa</u> et al. 2000
Diabetic nephropathy	ATL146e o ATL313 agonists	Attenuates the fibrotic marker fibronectin and reduces macrophages infiltration in glomeruli	Awad et al. 2006
Glomerulonep hritis	CGS21680 agonist	Reduces macrophages infiltration and collagen type I, II and IV deposition. Restores expression of E-cadherin	García et al. 2011
	Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Alloxaninduced diabetes Diabetic nephropathy Ischemia and reperfusion Oiabetic nephropathy	Ischemia and reperfusion Alloxan-induced diabetes Diabetic nephropathy Ischemia and reperfusion DWH146e antagonist Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion DWH146e antagonist Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Alloxan-induced diabetes Diabetic nephropathy Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Alloxan-induced diabetes Diabetic antagonist Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and reperfusion Ischemia and CM241385 Ischemia and Alloxan-induced antagonist Ischemia and CM241385 Ischemia and CM241385	Ischemia and reperfusion DPCPX antagonist Increases renal dysfunction, tubular necrosis, inflammation and apoptosis

			SMA in interstitium and the	
			glomerulus	
	unilateral ureteral obstruction	$A_{2A}AR$ -/- mice	Increases progression of tubulointerstitial fibrosis	Xiao et al. 2013
	unilateral ureteral obstruction	CGS21680 agonist	Significantly reduces collagen deposition, TGF-β and lymphocytes T CD4+ infiltration	Xiao et al. 2013
	Diabetic nephropathy	CGS21680 agonist	Prevents glomerular damage by inhibition of the inflammatory pathway. Reverses proteinuria and decreases urinary excretion of TNF-α.	Persson et al. 2015
	unilateral ureteral obstruction	$A_{2B}AR$ -/- mice	Attenuates IL-6 induction	Dai et al. 2011
	Diabetic nephropathy	MRS1754 antagonist	Restores nephrin and attenuates VEGF expression and α-SMA induction in glomeruli	Cárdenas el al. 2013
${ m A}_{ m 2B}$	Diabetic nephropathy	MRS1754 antagonist	Reduces VEGF expression and restores nitrite levels in the kidney tissue	Patel et al. 2014
	Diabetic nephropathy	$A_{2B}AR$ -/- mice	Increases glomerular filtration rate and albumin excretion	Tak et al. 2014
	Cyclosporine A-induced Nephropathy	MRS1754 antagonist	Reverses the increase of VEGF induced by the non-selective agonist NECA of adenosine receptors	Patel et al. 2015
	Ischemia and reperfusion	A_3AR -/- mice	Attenuates renal injury and restores renal function	Lee et al. 2003
	Ischemia and reperfusion	MECA agonist	Favors renal damage	Lee et al. 2003
\mathbf{A}_3	unilateral ureteral obstruction	LJ1888 antagonist	Inhibits the expression of fibronectin and collagen I. Reduces interstitial collagen	Lee et al. 2013
	Diabetic nephropathy	MRS1220 antagonist	Reduces α-SMA	Kretschmar et al. 2016
	Adriamycin- induced	LJ1888 antagonist	Restores nephrin and decreases collagen type IV, NF-κB, NOX4,	Min et al. 2016

71

nephropathy	TLR4, TNFα, IL-1β and IFN-γ	
	expression	







